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April 11, 2006
Dear Shareholders:

Two thousand five was a building year, ‘a year for acquiring and developing customer
relationships that expose the Company to opportunities in the fastest-growing and most
promising areas of video technology.

Video on the Internet is booming, and we believe that On2 is poised to capitalize on that
boom. Our relationship with Macromedia extends our reach to 600 million PCs
worldwide and allows us to develop and sell encoders and other software to serve the
Flash “ecosystem”. The broad installation base of Flash players positions Flash to play a
feature role in another significant trend — the proliferation of user-created video on
popular websites such as YouTube and MySpace. Our technology is at the forefront of
that trend, with customers such as VideoEgg incorporating our codec technology into a
web browser-based video publisher for bloggers and “prosumers.”

Although our technology has already seen global adoption through products such as the
Flash 8 player and Skype, On2 has continued to pursue international customers,
especially in the growing Asian markets. Notably, in 2005, we partnered with Tencent,
the largest instant messenger service in the world, to enable video instant messaging
across Asia. We also joined forces with China Transport Telecommunication Broadband
Network Service Co., Ltd. (CTTNet), a major provider of video content in China, to
expose our technology to opportunities'in streaming video on mobile devices.

Our partnership with CTTNet offers particularly exciting prospects for the VP7-based
mobile products that we are jointly developing and marketing. That partnership has
already yielded dividends in the form of our TrueMobile mobile video players for the
Symbian and Smartphone platforms. Our relationship with CTTnet, along with

relationships with XM, Skype, and others, introduces us to a whole new world of video
outside of PCs. '

We finished the year on a high note. Fourth quarter revenue topped a million dollars for
the first time since we closed the Adobe deal in the second quarter of 2004. In 2006, we
are even more committed to a strategy of growing with our customers. We want partners
with the size and scope to take us with them to the drawing board, to the market, and to
the after-market -- exposing us to a stream of follow-on revenues long after the ﬁrst
license or engineering project is completed




We still have much work to do, and there are always unforeseen hurdles to overcome. As
many of you know, On2’s longtime CEQO, Douglas McIntyre, left the Company at the end
of January. Ihave been serving as interim Chief Executive Officer and overseeing the
search for a permanent CEQO, but the real story is the dedication and focus of On2’s
incredible people. The Company has not missed a beat, and everyone here remains
justifiably optimistic about the future. The continued growth of video — on the Internet,
on mobile phones, and on other devices that are just now being conceived — seems
assured. We believe that we produce the best digital video technology available, and that
we will have a significant role to play in the video revolution in front of us.

We hope to see you at the Annual Meeting in May.

Kind regards,
Al (44/,»’7*& .
\) |

James Meyer
Interim Chief Executive Officer
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Item 1.  Description of Business

Forward-Looking Statement -

This document contains forward-looking statements concerning our expectations, plans, objectives, future financial
performance and other statements that are not historical facts. These statements are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In most cases, you can identify forward-looking statements
by terminology such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “can”, “could,” “should,” “expect,” “foresee,” “plan,” “anticipate,”
“assume,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “objective,” “forecast,” “goal” or “continue,” the negative of such
terms, their cognates, or other comparable terminology. '
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These statements are only predictions, and actual events or results may differ materially. The forward-looking
statements are based on management’s beliefs and assumption using information available at the time. We cannot guarantee
future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. . Factors that may cause actual results to differ are often
presented with the forward-looking statements themselves. Additionally, dther risks that may cause actual results to differ
from predicted results are set forth, and in “Risk Factors That May Affect-Future Operating Results” on page 26 of this Form
10-K. : : :

Many of the forward-looking statements are subject to additional risks related to our need to either secure additional
financing or to increase revenues to support our operations. We believe that between the funds we have on hand and the
funds we expect to generate, we have sufficient funds to finance our operations for the next 12 months. However, there is no
assurance that additional funds will not be required to support our operations. In this regard, the business and operations of
the Company are subject to substantial risks that increase the uncertainty inherent in the forward-looking statements
contained in this Form 10-K. In evaluating our business, you should give careful consideration to the information set forth
below under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors That May Affect Future Operating
Results,” in addition to the other information set forth herein.

The inclusion of the forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation that such forward-looking
statements will be achieved. We undertake no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise. In light of the foregoing, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the
forward-looking statements contained in this report.

Overview

On2 Technologies is a leading video compression technology firm. We have developed a proprietary technology platform
and the TrueMotion VPx family (e.g., VP3, VP6, VP7) of video compression/decompression (“codec”) software to deliver
high-quality video at the lowest possible data rates over proprietary networks and the Internet to set-top boxes, personal
computers and wireless devices. Unlike many other video codecs that are based on standard compression specifications set by
industry groups (e.g., MPEG-2 and H.264), our video compression software is based solely on intellectual property that we
developed and own ourselves.



We offer the following suite of products and services that incorporate our proprietary compression technology:

Products © i Video codecs;
o *  Audio codecs; and
: encoding and server software, for use
with video delivery platforms

Services - ‘e Customized engineering and
" consulting services;
‘o Technical support; and
‘e High-level vided encoding

Many of our customers are software developers who use our products and sefvices chiefly to provide the following
video-related products and services to end users:

TYPE OF CUSTOMER =~ o EXAMPLES

APPLICATION
'Video and Audio Distribution over o ‘P'roviding‘ video-on-demand services to
Proprietary Networks - y L residents in multi-dwelling units (MDUs)

" e Video surveillance

Consumer Electronic Devices ) ‘s Digital {/ideo players
' ' ‘ . e Digital video recorders

Wireless Applications . .. -e Delivery of video via satellite
¢ - Providing video to web-enabled cell
phones and PDAs

Video and Audio Distribution over IP-
-based Networks (Internet)

- Video-on-demand
Teleconferencing services
Video instant messaging
. Video for Voice-over-IP (VOIP) services-

In addition, as discussed at greater length below -we have recently begun marketmg encodmg software for use either by
end users or by developers who want to add video- encodmg functionality to the software they have developed.

As covered in greater detail below, we earn revenue chiefly through licensing our software and providing specialized
software engineering and consulting services to customers. .In addition to license fees, we often charge a royalty fee based on
the number of units of some.or all of the customer’s products that contain the relevant On2 software products that are sold or
distributed. Some of.our agreements with customers also require that the customers pay us a percentage of the revenues that
they earn from -any of their products or services that use our software. Royalties may be subject to guaranteed minimum
amounts and/or maximum amounts (e g., annual caps)

We have recently begun selling products and services that extend from our existing relationships with licensees. For
instance, if a customer has licensed our software to develop its own proprietary video format and video players, we may sell
encoding software to users who want to encode video for playback on our customers’ players or we may provide engineering
services to companies that want to modify our customer’s software for use on a specific platform, such as a cell phone. As
with royalties or revenue share arrangements, complementary sales of encoding software or engineering services should
allow us to participate in the success of our customers’ products. For instance, if a customer’s video platform does well
commercially, we would expect there-to be a market for encoding software and/or engmeermg services in support of that
platform. :

As part of our strategy to develop complementary p‘roducts that could allow us to capitalize on our customers’ success, in
April 2005 we completed the acquisition from Wildform, Inc. of its Flix line of encoding software. The Flix software allows
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users to encode video and other multimedia content for playback on Adobe® Flash® player, which is a widely distributed
multimedia player. The Flix brand has existed since the advent of Flash video and has a loyal following among its users.
Because Adobe has integrated our VP6 codec software into its Flash 8 player, we believed that there was an opportunity for
us to sell Flash 8 encoding software to end users, such as video professionals and web designers, and to software
development companies that wish to add Flash § encoding functionality to their software. We concluded that by taking the
well-regarded Flix software and updating it with Flash 8 encoding capability, we could best take advantage of the anticipated
wide distribution of the Flash 8§ player.

In addition to licensing our software to software developers and end users for their own use, we sell licenses to certain
third-party resellers. We also generally require that customers pay us if they desire to receive any upgrades to our software
(e.g., from VP6 to VP7). We charge a fee for engineering and consulting services, based on an estimate of the time it will
take our software engineers to provide the services, or an hourly fee for ongoing services such as product support.

A primary factor that will be critical to our success is our ability to improve continually on our current video
compression software, so that it streams the highest-quality video at the lowest transmission rates (bit rates). We believe that
our video compression software is highly efficient, allowing customers to stream -good-quality video (as compared with that
of our competitors) at low bit rates (i.e., over slow connections) and unsurpassed high resolution video at high bit rates (i.e.,
over broadband connections). As connection speeds increase, however, the advantage that our highly efficient software has
over competing technology may decrease. ‘

Another factor that may affect our success is the relative complexity of our video compression software, as compared
with other compression software. producing comparable compression rates and image quality.  Software with lower
complexity can run on a computer chip that is less powerful, and therefore generally less expensive, than would be required
to run software with greater complexity. Increased compression rates frequently result in increased complexity. While
customers want software that produces the highest possible compression rates and the best possible decompressed image,
they also want to keep production costs low by using the lowest-powered and accordingly least expensive chips that - still -
perform the processing they require. In addition, in some embedded applications, such as mobile devices, size and power
constraints, in addition to price issues, can limit the capability of the chips. Of course, in devices in which a great deal of
processing power can be devoted to video compression and decompression, the issue of software complexity is less
important. In addition, in certain applications, savings in chip costs related to the use of low complexity software may be
offset by increased costs (or reduced revenue) stemming from less efficient compression (e.g., increased bandwidth costs).

One of the most significant recent trends in our business is our increasing reliance on the success of the product
deployments of our customers. As mentioned above, an increasing number of our license agreements with customers provide
for the payment of fees that are dependent either on the number of units of a customer’s product incorporating our software
that are sold or on the amount of revenue generated by a customer from the sale of products or services that incorporate our
software. We have chosen this licensing model because, as a company of only approximately 35 employees, we do not have
the product development or marketing resources to develop and market end-to-end video solutions. Instead, our software is
primarily intended to be used as a building block for companies that are developing end-to-end video products and/or
services. ‘

As addressed above, under our agreements with certain customers, we have retained the right to market products that
complement those customer applications. These arrangements allow us to take advantage of our customers’ often superior
ability to produce and market end-to-end video products and services, while offering those customers the benefit of including
technologically-advanced software in their applications. As with arrangements in which we receive royalties or revenue
shares, the ability to market complementary products can yield total revenues over time in excess of an initial, one-time
license fee. In instances where we have licensed our products to well-known customers, our right to sell complementary
products may be of significant value. But unlike royalties and revenue shares, which we generally expect to receive without
any significant additional effort on our part, the successful sale of complementary products requires that we effectively
execute an end-user product development and marketing program. Developing and marketing products aimed at end users is
a relatively new business for us. Until recently, we had generally produced software targeted at developers, who integrate our
software into their products.

Although we believe that we have adopted the licensing model most appropriate for a business of our size and expertise,
a natural result of this licensing model is that the revenue we generate is highly dependent on the success of our customers’
product deployments. If the products of customers with whom we have established per unit royalty or revenue sharing
relationships, or for which we expect to market complementary products, do not generate significant sales, the revenues we
earn from that relationship are likely not to attain significant levels. Conversely, if one or more of such customers’ products
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is widely adopted, our revenues will likely be enhanced.

Another significant trend in our business is the emergence of Microsoft as a principal competitor in the market for digital
media creation and distribution technology. Microsoft currently competes with us in the market for digital media servers,
players, codecs and other technology and services related to digital distribution of media. Microsoft’s commitment to and
presence in the media delivery industry has increased. Microsoft distributes its competing streaming encoder, media server,
player, tools and digital rights management (“DRM”) products by bundling them with its Windows operating systems and
servers at no additional cost or otherwise making them available free of charge or at a low cost. Microsoft’s practices have
caused, and may continue to cause, pricing pressure on our revenue generating products and services and may affect usage of
our competing products and formats. Microsoft’s anticompetitive practices have, in some cases, led , and could continue to
lead, to-longer sales cycles, decreased sales, loss of existing and potential customers and reduced market share. In addition,
we believe that Microsoft has used and may continue to use its competitive position in the computer industry and its financial
resources to secure preferential or exclusive distribution, use and bundling contracts for its media delivery technologies and
products with third parties, such as ISPs, content delivery networks, content providers, entertainment and media companies,
VARs and OEMs, including third parties with whom we have relationships. Finally, Microsoft’s DRM product, which
prevents unauthorized copying and re-distribution of proprietary content, is widely accepted among movie studios and others
in the content industry. Unfortunately, Microsoft DRM does not integrate well with non-Microsoft video and audio software.
Many companies that want to distribute copy-protected content are therefore forced to choose Microsoft video technology to
be able toruse Microsoft’s DRM technology.

Another trend is the emergence of H.264 as a competitor in the video compression field. H.264 is a standards-based
codec that is the successor to MPEG-4. We believe our technology is superior to H.264, and that we can offer significantly
more flexibility in licensing terms than customers get when licensing H.264. H.264 has nevertheless started to gain adoption
by potential customers because, as a standards-based codec, it has the advantage of having numerous developers who are
programming to the H.264 standard and developing products based on such standard. In addition, at least several
manufacturers of multimedia processors have done the work necessary to have H.264 operate on their chips. These
advantages may allow potential customers to implement a solution based on H.264 with less initial development time and
expense than a solution using On2 Video might require, even though the H.264 solution could be less efficient and more
expensive than On2 Video solution in the final analysis.: In addition, there are certain customers that prefer to license
standards-based codecs. :

We ate also watching with interest and participating in the trend towards the proliferation of consumer-created video
content on the web. As Internet use has grown worldwide and Internet connection speeds have increased, there has been a
marked increase in consumer-created content on the web. While that content initially consisted primarily of text content and
still photographs, the availability of relatively inexpensive digital video cameras, the growth in the number of users with
access to broadband Internet connections, and improvements in video compression technology have contributed to a
groundswell in consumer-created video content. Weblogs (blogs) and podcasts (broadcasts of audio content to iPod® and
MP3 devices) are evolving to include video content. A number of services has sprung up to host consumer-created video, .
and many commercial sites now also feature amateur videos. The continued proliferation of consumer-created video on the
Internet may have a positive effect on our business. The Adobe® Flash® video is a popular format for Web video. Because
Flash 8 uses On2’s VP6 codec, On2 may have the opportunity to license Flash encoding tools for use in video blogs video
podcasts, and to consumer-created video services or to individual users of those services.

The market for digital media creation and delivery technology is constantly changing and has become intensely and
increasingly competitive. We have and continue to take a number of steps to address this competition. First and foremost, we
focus on providing our customers with video compression/decompression technology that delivers the highest possible video
quality at the lowest possible data rates. In order to do this, we devote a significant portion of our engineering capacity to
research and development. Although we expect that competition from Microsoft, H.264 developers, and others will -
intensify, we also expect that our video compression technology will remain competitive and that our relatively small size
will allow us to innovate in the video compression field and respond to emerging trends more quickly than monolithic
organizations such as Microsoft and the MPEG consortium. We also address the competitive threats that we face by focusing
on developing relationships with customers who do not want to do business with Microsoft and/or do not ﬁnd the complex
and rigid standards-based licenses and fee structures appeahng

Development of Our Business

We detail the history and evolution of our business under the section “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and of Operation -- Company — History”..:




Business Strategy

Our goal is to be one of the premier providers of video compression/decompression software technology and compression
tools. We are striving to achieve that goal and the goal of building a stable base of quarterly revenues by implementing the
following key strategies: ~

. Contmumg our research and development efforts to increase the quahty of vrdeo technology in order to improve the -
experience of end users; ‘

« Using the success of current customer implementations of our technology (e.g., Adobe Flash 8, Skype) to increase our
brand recognition and promote new business;’

» Leveraging our existing products and services to support new products and services and to expand our presence in
multiple industries, including the Internet, wireless applications and consumer electronics;

» Employing flexible licensing strategies to offer customers more attractive business terms than those available for -
competing technologies; and

» Entering into licensing arrangements with customers that provide for receipt of recurring revenue or that offer us the
opportunity to market products that complement our customers implementations of our software;

* Expanding into international markets by contracting with resellers of our products and services and by developing
relationships with large, innovative customers.

Our Technology, Products and Services

We have designed our technology to deliver the highest-quality video at the lowest possible data rates and to encode
(compress) and decode (decompress) video on comparatively low-powered chips suitable for consumer electronics products.
We currently license and develop a number of products related to our TrueMotion line of codecs and TrueCast line of server
and player products for proprietary networks, the Internet and consumer electronic industries. The licensing of our
proprietary TrueMotion codec and TrueCast server technology has accounted for 29%, 16%, and 6% percent of our revenue-
for the three fiscals years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

TrueMotion® 2X (TM2X)

Originally developed as our state-of-the-art video compression codec in 1998, the TM2X codec is optimized for hard-
drive, Kiosk, or CD-ROM based video playback. The TM2X video delivery algorithm was licensed for use in Sega’s
Dreamcast and Saturn and has also been licensed to gaming developers and manufacturers interested in high quality video on
machines with limited processing capabilities..

At the time it was introduced, TM2X offered comparatively high resolutions (320x240, 640x480) and high bit-rates that
could play back smoothly on a wide range of CPUs available at the time. The product was part of QuickTime and Video for -
Windows and can be used in programs such as Adobe Premiere and Terran’s Media Cleaner Pro. It is also a cross-platform
codec: QuickTime works on both Macintosh computers and personal computers.

TrueMotion VP3 Series

Our TrueMotion VP3 series of codecs includes VP3, VP3.1 and VP3.2. VP3 was introduced in January 2000 and was the
original codec used on our website, at data rates between 300 and 400 kbps. VP3.1 was launched in June 2000 and provided
for full-motion, full-screen television quality video over the Internet at data rates as low as 250 kbps, scaling dynamically to
500 kbps and more. Introduced in August 2000, VP3.2 was designed to offer high-quality video transmission over broadband
Internet connections and supply television-quality video at data rates as low as 200 kbps. VP?3 files are encoded in multiple
bit rates and at optimum frame rates (usually 29.97 fps) within a single file.



Open Source VP3.2

VP3.2 was made available to the open-source community on September 7, 2001, so as to provide software developers an
efficient, open source video codec with no platform limitations or restrictive license fees. VP3 became the first true common
format that is open, documented and free. We created VP3-based plug-ins for other media formats, such as Apple’s-
QuickTime. With these plug-ins, users can encodé content using VP3 plug-in technology engineered to play that content back
through these other popular player-formats.

In June 2002 the Company entered into an agreement w1th the Xiph.Org Foundation, developers of Vorbis, the popular
open-source audio codec, for Xiph to be the prime source of support, distribution, and further development of VP3. In
addition, with On2’s support, Xiph integrated VP3 into its Ogg Multimedia Framework, providing a full-featured, open-
source, royalty-free alternative to expensive solutions such as MPEG-4.

VP4 Codec

Released in the second quarter of 2001, VP4 was initially optimized for set-top boxes and closed area environments. At
the time it was introduced, VP4 was widely recognized as among the most efficient video compression technologies
available. VP4 achieves-near-DVD quality at 450 kbps and near-VHS quality at 150 kbps at full-screen and full-motion. VP4
offered a 20% bandwidth reduction over then-current competmve technologies, allowmg for greatly reduced costs for
comparable quality video. .

VP5 Codec

We made VPS5 available for license in the second quarter of 2002. VPS5 offered a 50% reduction over the bandwidth
required to show comparable quality video using VP4. Additional features offered by VP5 include real-time encoding and the
ability to handle interlaced content, making it the first codec on the market to offer true broadcast-quality, real-time
compression of difficult live material, such as sports and action footage, at sub-megabit data rates. The ability to handle
interlaced content set VPS5 apart from the crowd of competitive video codecs available at that time.

VP6 Codec

We launched the Beta version of our TrueMotion VP6 series of codecs in May 2003 and the official version in October
2003, and we have since released updated versions VP6.1:and VP6.2. As with prior versions of our codec, VP6 represented a
significant improvement over its predecessors, offering a 40% image quality improvement over and 50% faster playback than
VP5. VP6 improves upon all the features contained in VPS5 and supports real-time encoding at full D1 resolution. It also
cons1stent1y outperforms Windows Media 9 based on tests of Peak Signal-to-Noise Ratios (PSNR) measured at data rates
ranging from dial-up (28.8 Kbps) to DVD and HD (6 to 8 Mbps). Since our introduction of VP6, we have ported it to the
following digital signal processors (DSPs) across a range of resolutions: Texas Instruments’ TMS320C64x, Analog Devices™
Blackfin, ARC International’s ARCTangent, Equator Technologies’ MAP-CA and the ARM 7 and ARM 9. Despite the
introduction of VP7, we have continued to license VP6 extensively for use with a wide vanety of applications on numerous
platforms.

VP7 Codec

We introduced our TrueMotion VP7 codec in early March 2005. Like prior versions of the TrueMotion codecs, VP7 shows a
marked improvement over its predecessors, producing up to a 30% image quality improvement over VP6. Like its
predecessor, in objective PSNR tests, VP7 shows better performance than its main competitors, including Windows Media 9,
Real 10, and MPEG-4-compatible codecs at data rates ranging from dial-up (28.8 Kbps) to DVD and HD. In addition, VP7
regularly outperforms all but the best implementations of H.264 across data-rates and is highly competitive with the most
advanced H.264 implementations. As with VP6, VP7 also supports real-time encoding at full D1 resolution. VP7 has been
developed to run on low-cost DSPs, and On2’s engineers and certain third parties are currently working to port VP7 to a
number of DSPs,




Audio for Video Codec Technology (AVC)

AVC is an advanced compression algorithm that is ideal for a variety of audio sources, including music, human speech,
film and broadcast television. AVC can achieve very high quality audio at bit rates lower than current standards such as MP3
or AC-3. This algorithm is designed for easy portability to embedded devices and can be licensed for a lower per-unit cost
than other audio codecs on the market. AVC runs with On2’s video codecs, and this combination can provide a seamless low-
bit-rate multimedia experience. VP6 or VP7 combined with AVC is comparable to MPEG-4 combined with AC-3, but with a
substantial data rate savings. It is particularly useful for implementations such as VOD deployment over DSL or cable
networks. AVC also allows for less transfer time and storage space for downloaded files.

TrueMotion Encoder Products

Our Encoder enables content owners to re-master and compress their assets efficiently into the VP4, VPS5, VP6, or VP7
format at their own convenience. Beginning with capturing uncompressed video through high quality SDI inputs, users can
create an optimized digital file using our proprietary re-mastering tools. These tools are geared toward the video professional
who wants exact control over the optimization process. Once the raw file has been optimized, our compression software has
the capability to create multiple data rate compressed files.

TrueMobile Mobile Video Products

In October 2005, On2 announced its arrangement with China Transport Telecommunications Broadband Network Service
Co., Ltd. (CTTnet) under which On2 and CTTnet would jointly develop mobile video products based on On2’s TrueMotion
video compression technology. Prior to entering into its agreement with CTTnet, On2’s research and development team had
developed proof-of-concept video players operating in the Symbian and Smartphone Mobile environments.  Those players
formed the foundation of the first commercial TrueMobile products, and in January 2006, On2 and CTTnet announced that
they had TrueMobile players operating on four Symbian handset models, 10 Smartphone handset models, and several
Windows CE PDA models.

TrueCast® Server Software

TrueCast Server Software is designed to take full ad.vantage of our industry-leading VP line of codecs and to guarantee the
smoothest delivery of compelling multi-media presentations over private networks (e.g., set-top boxes), embedded platforms
or the Internet.

TrueCast comes optimized in two manners: one for transport using our own proprietary protocol, TrueCast Transport
Protocol (TTP), and one for RTSP/RTP to various set-top box platforms. TrueCast and VP5/VP6/VP7 are an ideal
combination for low-bit-rate Video-On-Demand systems. Our TrueCast Servers and our encoder provide the necessary tools
for high-quality video over low speed IP connections.

In the first quarter of 2005, we released TrueCast version 8.0. This version of TrueCast provides support for multicast
presentations, and can simultaneously stream a single audio and video stream from a server, including HTTP-based Web
servers, to thousands of users. It also permits local playback of AVI files from a user’s hard disk, and set-top box/DSP
platforms from Texas Instruments, Equator Technologies, and others.

In the third quarter of 2003, we announced that we have added Microsoft Windows CE to the family of operating systems
supported by our TrueCast sét-top box solution. '

In addition, TrueCast 8.0 is able to stream content that is captured and encoded directly from “live” video sources using
the company’s revolutionary VP6, VP7 and earlier-generation On2 real-time encoders. This feature is ideal for time-critical
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applications such as streaming live events, video conferencing, Digital Television over DSL, and personal video recorders.
Digital Signal Processor (DSP) and Server Integrations :

VP4, VPS5, VP6, and VP7 have been ported onto a variety of digital signal processing chips (DSPs). DSPs are the
computer processing chips frequently used in consumer products such as DVDs, cell phones, and personal digital assistants.
The VP6 decoder currently runs on a wide range of DSPs at various resolutions, and the VP6 encoder operates on several
DSPs as well. We and several third parties are also working to port the VP7 decoder and encoder to a number of DSPs. We
believe that by porting to these platforms, we will facilitate the use of On2’s codec in set-top-box and other consumer device
deployments where the availability of low-cost chips is important.

Encoding Tools for Customer Formats

In 2005, we entered the business of selling video encoding software that allows users to encode video in formats used by two
of our customers, Macromedia (now Adobe) and AOL. Both Adobe’s Flash 8 multimedia player and AOL’s Nullsoft video
(NSYV) player use On2’s TrueMotion VP6 technology. Although we continue to offer Nullsoft encoding tools, that business
constitutes a small fraction of our third-party encoding tool business. In 2005, the licensing of Flash and Nullsoft encoding
tools together accounted for 59 percent of our revenue. ‘

We launched our encoding software business as part of strategy of capitalizing on our customers’ successful deployments of
products that incorporate our technology. In particular, we believed that the inclusion of our technology in the widely-
distributed Adobe Flash player represented a significant opportunity for us. We acquired the Flix line of Flash encoding
software from Wildform, Inc., discussed in greater detail in “Description of Business — Overview”, to further our plan for
rapidly establishing a significant business of marketing Flash encoding tools.

We sell two types of Flash encoding tools. We distribute end-user software such as our desktop Flix encoding tools (Flix Pro
and Flix Standard) and our Flix Engine software, which can operate in desktop or server environments. These products allow
users to convert and/or encode video in Flash 6, 7, and 8 formats. We also sell Flash encoder software development Kits that
allow customers to enable their products to encode in the:Flash format. These products range from low-level tools such as
our Flash 8 SDK to relatively high-level, more fully-featured tools such our Flix Engine. The Flix Engine can be integrated
with our customers’ applications, as well as being used as an off-the-shelf end user software product.

Our marketing efforts for our Flash encoding tools are generally directed at three groups of customers. First, we offer our
desktop Flix encoding tools (Flix Pro and Flix Standard) for purchase online by end users, both professional and non-
professional. Second, we market our desktop and server products directly to enterprise customers, such as content providers
and Internet advertising firms. Finally, we promote our Flash SDKs to software developers. Some such developers will use
our SDKs to integrate our Flash encoder with their software products for sale to end users. Other developers will incorporate
our Flash encoder products that they will use in their own services (e.g., an online video search service might develop a Flash
encoding tool for use internally or by their customers). '

We believe that the prospects of our Flash encoding business are closely related to the success of Adobe’s Flash player and
Flash authoring business. While the increasing worldwide adoption of Flash players will not ensure the success of our Flash
encoder business, the failure of Adobe’s Flash 8 initiative would almost certainly have a serious, negative impact on our sales
of Flash encoding software. ‘

Services
In addition to licensing our software, we offer a variety of custom engineering and consulting services to our customers.

Fees derived from engineering and consulting services accounted for 7%, 14%, and 19% percent of our revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In particular, we offer the following services:

Custom Engi'neering and Consulting Services
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We provide custom engineering and consulting services designed to support customers or assist prospective customers in
evaluating our software. Our engineering and consulting services generally consist of:

customizing our software to add a feature, user interface or other function requested by a customer;

e porting and optimizing our technology platform and algorithm libraries onto DSPs and embedded devices, such as
set-top boxes, mobile phones and other portable devices;
‘evaluating potential customer implementations of our software; and

e  providing technical support for existing customers.

Encoding

We provide encoding services for customers, although this business has significantly contracted as a component of our
total revenue. These services consist of the conversion of archival video and audio content into formats for delivery to end-
users. ‘

Research and Develobment ‘

The primary focus of our research and development activities is to advance and expand upon our core codec technology,
which improves the video experience for end users. In addition, we devote significant research and development time to
exploring new uses of our codecs, such as implementing our software on mobile platforms or in new operating environments.
Our research and development efforts have enabled us to provide quality video compression and decompression at lower
broadband data rates (e.g., DSL) and certain narrowband data rates (e.g., dial-up and cell phone). Our speculative research in
new platforms or operating environments also regularly results in commercial products that may become a significant source
of revenue. We believe that continued advances in our technology are key to the success of our business. Consequently, we
devote a substantial portion of our resources to our research and development efforts. Research and development expenses
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 were $1,035,000, $884,000 and $1,124,000 respectively.

Distribution Methods

Qur business consists of developing and marketing our software-based technology products and related services. Because
we generally sell our software to companies that will integrate the software with their products or distribute the software
themselves in connection with their services, and until recently have not regularly attempted to sell products directly to end
users, we do not distribute a high volume of individual copies of software. Our customers usually download copies of
software that they have purchased by online file transfer, although we will send them a CD-ROM containing the software if
they request. Other than temporary interruptions to Internet service, we therefore do not generally suffer from delays in our
distribution network. We usually provide our engineering and consulting services and product support from our own
facilities.

Sales and Business Development

Our sales and business development departments aim to build relationships that fall into two basic categories: product
licensing and professional services. These departments focus on engaging chip-set manufacturers, global cable and
telecommunication companies, manufacturers of hardware platforms for consumer electronic and wireless devices, and

manufacturers of video-enabled products targeted at commercial and government users. We seek to license our compression
software to manufacturers of video or video-enabled equipment and providers of video services, and we seek to encourage
developers of chip-sets and software platforms to integrate our codecs within their products. Additionally, our teams focus
on selling licenses for our encoding and streaming software to content providers who are delivering video over proprietary
networks and to [P-based end users. Our professional services are usually incident to our product licensing and primarily
focus on porting or optimizing our compression technologies to multiple hardware platforms used in video delivery solutions
by manufacturers who have licensed our compression technology.

International
We believe that we are well positioned to selectively expand our business internationally. We have focused in particular
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on identifying and capitalizing on opportunities in Asia and Europe.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2001}, foreign customers accounted for approximately 27%, 20% and
67% respectively, of total revenue. These customers are primarily located in'Asia. The decrease the percentage of foreign
customers from 2003 to 2004 and 2005 is a result of decrease in sales from our Japan reseller and the completion of a large
engineering project with a leading Japanese electronics manufacturer in 2003.

Asia

We believe that Asia, with its numerous broadband netwo;ks, is one of the strongest markets for video-on-demand initiatives.
Our international sales and business development efforts have been primarily focused in this region to date. Our predecessor
corporation, The Duck Corporation, has significant name recognition in Asia, especially among video game developers. Our
TM2X (TrueMotion 2X) software was widely-distributed because of its inclusion in several popular video games, such as
Final Fantasy 7 for PC. We are currently involved with several Asian entities that are considering using our video
compression and server software in set-top box deployments. We also aim to expand internationally by appointing resellers
of our products and services who purchase software licenses from us and sell them in a designated international market. To
date, we have signed reseller agreements for a number of Asian markets, including China, Japan, Korea, Hong Kong,
Taiwan, and Singapore.

Beijing E-World

In June 2003, we announced that we had licensed our VPS5 and VP6 codecs to Beijing E-World Technology Co. Ltd. (E- .
World), a consortium of several Chinese consumer electronics manufacturers. Under the terms of two license agreements
with E-world, we granted E-World a license to use our codecs in E-World's Enhanced Versatile Disk (EVD) technology as
well as other video products. E-world is developing EVD as a next-generation videodisk technology that is hoped will
become the industrial standard for China for the recording and playback of video, audio and data. E-World did not pay
certain minimum quarterly payments that we believed were due under its license agreements with us, and we commenced an
arbitration proceeding seeking damages for E-World’s failure to perform. In a ruling issued March 10, 2005, the arbitrator
rejected our claims that E-World had breached the agreements and also denied a request by E-World to declare that it had .
complied with its obligations under the agreements. The arbitrator further noted that agreements remained in effect and that
the parties had a continuing obligation to work to jointly select and port On2’s software to two commercial DSPs for use in
the EVD players. Despite the arbitrator’s expectations rega.rdmg completion of the porting work, On2 and E-world have not
made significant progress on the porting.

CTTNet

In January 2006, On2 and China Transport Telecommunications Broadband Network Service Co., Ltd. (CTTnet) entered into.
an agreement to jointly develop and distribute On2 TrueMobile mobile video software in China and the Asian markets.

Under the terms of the Agreement, On2 granted CTTNet a license to On2’s VP6 and VP7 software as well as certain reseller
rights for China and other Asian markets. On2 and CTTNet have jointly announced that they have made swmflcant progress
in the development and deployment throughout China of mobile vxdeo software for the Symbian and SmartPhone mobile
platforms.

Europe

We continue to pursue sales and business developmént opportunities in the European market, although we have not yet had
the success there that we have had in Asia. We have had success with our U.K.-based partners TVZ Ltd. and QuickLink Ltd.
in powering news gathering and dissemination applications for major news organizations such as the BBC, but we have not
yet established the breadth or depth of relationships with European customers and resellers that we have with Asian
customers. We need to continue to focus on increasing the visibility of our compression products in Europe.

Location of Assets and Operations
All of the Company’s assets and operations have been and are currently based within the United States, except for two
research and development employees located in the Umted Kingdom. We did not generate any revenue from our United

Kingdoni operations for the years ended December 31 20035, 2004 and 2003

Competition
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We believe that our principal competitive advantage is our ability to deliver video that is comparable or superior in quality
to other compression technologies at significantly lower data rates. In the streaming video market, this attribute significantly
reduces the amount of bandwidth necessary to deliver video of similar quality and allows our customers to realize a greater
profit on their video delivery initiatives by either: :

s lowering the amount of bandwidth that customers need to deliver video,
allowing customers to deliver video to more users without increasing bandwidth, or

e  permitting customers to deliver good-quality v1deo at Jower data rates than those at which other video codecs can
operate effectively.

Increased compression offers similar advantages in storage of video files, enabling customers to:

e store video at a set resolution using less storage capacity than required by competitive compression software;
e store more video at a set resolution in a given storage space than competitive compression software;
¢ store more video of a higher quality in a given storage space than competitive compression software.

Our business is highly competitive and affected by rapid change. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our
business include technological innovation, versatility of products, pricing, availability of content, ease of integration with and
availability of use on low-cost processors, customer service, service offerings and the flexibility to adapt to changing market
conditions. Our video compression technology competes with that of companies such as Microsoft, ReailNetworks, and
Apple, and with standards-based codecs such as MPEG-2, H.264, MPEG-4 and several codecs that position themselves as
“MPEG-4-based”. In the market for mobile video players, our newly-developed On2 TrueMobile products compete with
products from companies such as MobiTV, Inc., GoTV, PacketVideo and SmartVideo. Our server technology faces
competition from products marketed by RealNetworks, Microsoft and other companies and various open source server
technology.

The size of our company and the fact that we have developed a proprietary, non-standards-based video codec both help and
hinder our ability to compete. Companies such as Microsoft and RealNetworks benefit from name recognition that we do not
enjoy. Microsoft is also able to use its market power to support aggressive pricing on its products that compete with ours.
There are three major standards-based codecs, MPEG-2, H.264, and the less widely-adopted MPEG-4; in addition, Microsoft
is proceeding towards establishing a standard, dubbed VC1, based on its Window Media 9 technology. With respect to
standards-based codecs, there are numerous developers programming to those standards, and there are certain customers that
prefer to license standards-based codecs. In addition, because of significant adoption of standards-based codecs and
Windows Media 9, there is a number of chip manufacturers that have designed low-cost chips designed to operate with those
codecs. The availability of a range of chips means that potential customers of standards-based codecs or Windows Media 9
may not have to incur added cost or experience delays if they choose to use those codecs in their products.

Nevertheless, we believe that our small size and proprietary products frequently are attractive to customers, especially
overseas, that will seek to license our products not only because of their superior performance, but also because:

+ our products do not come from Microsoft or a consortium of conglomerates (such as those that own the core
intellectual property used in the proprietary codecs), and we offer highly responsive, customized service befitting a
company of our size and culture;

¢ we offer flexible licensing terms that do not involve burdensome standards-based licenses and fee structures; and

*  we are able to upgrade our technology regularly, because we do not have to submit proposed revisions to slow-
acting standards committees.

See the section “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Overview” for further discussion of our competitors.

Customers

Our customers, and the potential customers of our resellers, fall into several categories. The customers for our TrueMotion
video compression technology and Flash encoding software development Kits typically are either software or hardware
developers who want to enable their products to store or transmit digital video, or providers of online services that want to
add video capabilities to their services. The customers for our engineering services are generally customers of our video
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compression technology who need assistance customizing our software to work on a certain platform or need us to modify
our software to work with their software. In addition, we have begun to provide a growing range of engineering services to
customers who have requested customization of our Flash encoding software. Finally, the customers who purchase our Flix
Flash encoding tools are individual or small-business users who buy single or multiple units of software or large content
providers and Internet advertising firms who may buy enterprise licenses. For the year ended December 31, 2005, two
customers accounted for 20%and 11% of the Company’s total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2004, one
customer accounted for 47% of the Company’s total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2003, three customers
accounted for 35%, 19% and 11% of the Company’s total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2005, four customers
accounted for 20%, 18%, 11% and 11% of total accounts'receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2004, two customers
accounted for 21% and 13% of total accounts receivable..

Intellectual Property

We regard much of our technology as proprietary and:try to protect it by relying on trademarks, copyrights, patents, trade
secret laws and confidentiality agreements. We view our:copyrights, service marks, trademarks, trade secrets, proprietary -
technology and similar intellectual property as critical to our success. We currently hold several U.S. patents and have several
U.S. and international patent applications pending: We believe that the patents that are currently issued are not material to our
business. While we try to ensure that the quality of the On2 brand is-maintained through such measures, there can be no
assurance that steps we have taken and continue to take to protect our proprietary rights will be adequate or that third parties
will not infringe on our intellectual property. In addition, there can be no assurance that third parties will not assert
infringement claims against us. which, even if not meritorious, could rcsult in the expenditure of substantial resources and
management effort. :

In connection with our software license agreements with third parties, we seek to control access to and distribution of our
technology, documentation and other proprietary information. Even with all of these precautions, someone else could
conceivably copy or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary information without our authorization, or could develop similar
technology independently. Effective trademark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in
which our services are made available through the Internet, and policing unauthorized use of our proprietary information is
difficult and expensive. In addition, some of our technology is protected as trade secrets for which government registration is
not available. Our only means of protecting our trade secrets is to restrict scrupulously the disclosure of that information.

We cannot be sure that the steps we have taken will prevent misappropriation of our proprietary information. Any
misappropriation could have a material adverse effect on our business. In the future, we may need to go to court to enforce .
our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets, or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others. That litigation might result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention.

From time to time, we license from third parties technologies incorporated into some of our products and services.
Historically, we have not required any material third party technology licenses. As we have entered into the Flash encoding
business, however, we have found it necessary to license third-party software to allow us to decode and encode video and
audio files in a variety of formats. We cannot be sure that these third-party technology licenses will continue to be available
on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. ’ ‘

Government Regulation

We are not currently subject to direct regulation by any governmental agency other than rules and regulations that apply to
businesses and publicly-traded companies generally, except that certain U.S. export controls and import controls of other
countries, including controls on the use of encryption technologies, which may apply to our products. Laws and regulations
specifically pertaining to the Internet are new and developing. These laws or regulations govern matters such as intellectual
property, user privacy, e-commerce, information security and taxation. In addition, the applicability of existing laws to the
Internet is uncertain and evolving. As a result of this uncertainty, it is difficult to predlct the impact, if any, that future
regulation or changes in regulation may have on our operations. o

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 35 full-time employees. Of the total employees, 26 were engineering and product
development personnel, 2 were sales and marketing personnel and 7 were general and administrative personnel.

None of our employees is represented by a labor union, and we consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
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We supplement our work force from time to time with contractors, administrative personnel through employment agencies,
and part time employees. ‘

Item 2.  Description of Property

We do not own any real property. We lease approximately 7,000 square feet of space at 21 Corporate Dr., Suite 103, Clifton
Park, NY 12065 where our principal executive, administrative and engineering offices are located at an annual rental fee of
approximately $106,000. This lease expires on February 1, 2009. In addition, we lease approximately 750 square feet of
space for certain of our executives and certain IT staff at 1560 Broadway, 10th Floor, New York, New York 10036. We pay
an annual rent of approximately $108,000. This lease expires August 31, 2006. Management believes these facilities are all
in usable condition and that these facilities are sufficient to meet our needs for the immediate future. Management also
believes that both facilities are adequately covered by insurance.

We do not invest in real estate or interests in real estate, real estate mortgages or securities of or interests in persons
primarily engaged in real estate. It is not our policy to-acquire assets primarily for possible capital gain or primarily for
income, although during the year ended December 31, 2004 we received 2,224,000 shares of Powerlinx, Inc. common stock
as payment of license fees pursuant to the terms of an August 2004 license agreement, and we recognized $289,000 of
revenue based on the market value of the stock. We also received 469,000 shares of this customer’s common stock pursuant
to the terms of a license agreement for a license fee of $150,000, which we recognized in 2003. During the year ended
December 31, 2004 the Company sold 574,000 shares of Powerlinx for proceeds of $89,000 and held 2,119,000 shares with a
market value of $445,000 ($0.21 per share) as of December 31, 2004. There were no sales for the year ended December 31,
2005, and the 2,119,000 shares held by the Company as of December 31, 2005, had a market value of $106,000 ($0.05 per
share) as of that date. The market value of these securities was $0.04 per share as of March 6, 2006. Douglas A. McIntyre,
the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer (who was also a director and shareholder of the Company) is a director of
Powerlinx. :

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

On March 2, 2006, the Company filed a Form 8-K, which disclosed that it had voluntarily reported to the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") that the Company had undertaken an internal investigation into facts and circumstances
concerning investor and other communications made by the Company's former Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
President. The Company is voluntarily working with the SEC to complete the investigation, which is ongoing.

Itemd.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
‘ VPART 11
Item 5.  Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Our common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “ONT”. The following table sets forth for

the fiscal periods indicated the high and low bid prices of our common stock, as reported on the American Stock Exchange,
since January 1, 2004:

High Low
Fiscal Year 2006
First Quarter (through March 13, 2006) $ 148 $ 0.76
Fiscal Year 2005
First Quarter $ 128 §$ 062
Second Quarter $ 070 $ 052
Third Quarter $ 094 $ 0.52
Fourth Quarter $ 1.20 $ 055
Fiscal Year 2004
First Quarter $ 1.66 $ 0.86
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Second Quarter : $ 124 $ 059
Third Quarter j $ 1.04 $ 0.63
Fourth Quarter ; $ 076 $ 0.50

There were approximately 268 stockholders of record of our common stock as of March 13, 2006.

1t is our present policy not to pay cash dividends and to retain future earnings to support our growth. We do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. <
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" Equity Compensation Plan Information
o Number of securities

Number of securities .. ~ : remaining available for
to be issued - - Weighted-average future issuance under

upon exercise of . exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, . (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and rights - ‘warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
’ (a) o () ©

Equity compensation

plans approved by : . ,

security holders..... 10,299,000 - $0.98 2,066,000
Equity compensation

plans not approved
* by security holders o 0 : 0 0

Total.............. 10,299,000 | $0.98 2,066,000
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Recent Issuances of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds from Unregistered Securities

Series D Convertible Preferred Stock

On October 28, 2004, the Company completed a private placement of its convertible securities (the “MidSummer
Transaction”) to MidSummer Investment Ltd. and Islandia L.P (the "Series D Investors"). The Company received gross
proceeds of $4,000,000 and net proceeds of approximately $3,699,000. The Company paid a fee of $240,000 to H.C:
Wainwright & Co., Inc. (“Wainwright™), and issued certain common stock warrants described below, for-Wainwright’s
services as placement agent in the MidSummer Transaction. In addition, the Company paid approximately $61,000 in
additional fees relating to the MidSummer Transaction and registration for resale of the Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of the securities issued in connection with the MidSummer Transaction. In exchange for the proceeds, the
Company issued 4,000 shares of a new Series D convertible preferred stock (the "Series D Preferred Stock"), which are
convertible into an aggregate of 5,714,286 shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.01 (the "Common Stock”).
The Series D Preferred Stock is subject to a guaranteed 8% annual dividend, payable quarterly, and is mandatorily
redeemable by the Company over an eighteen-month period starting in October 2006. Such redemptions can be made in cash
or Common Stock, at the Company's option. If redemptions are made in Common Stock, the shares are valued at the average
of the volume weighted average trading price of the Common Stock for the twenty trading days immediately prior to the
redemption date. In addition, the Company granted the Investors a Series A Warrant and Series B Warrant, each of which is
convertible into 2,994,011 shares of Common Stock. The Series A Warrant, which has been exercised as described below,
bore an exercise price of $0.65 and could be redeemed by the Company for $0.01 if the Common Stock trades at or above
$0.845 for 10 consecutive trading days at any point after the shares of Common Stock underlying the Series A Warrant had
been registered for resale. The Series B Warrant bears an exercise price of $0.76 and expires on October 27, 2009. The Series
D Preferred Stock and warrants are subject to weighted-average anti-dilution protection for issuances of securities below the
conversion price. We relied on Section (4)(2) of the Securities Act in issuing the debentures and warrants without
registration. .

On October 28, 2004, the Company issued to Wainwright 285,714 warrants (the “Wainwright Warrants”); these warrants
were further payment, in addition to the $240,000 cash fee described above, for Wainwright’s services as placement agent in
connection with the MidSummer Transaction. Warrants in this series are convertible into Common Stock at an exercise price
of $0.70 per share, expire on October 27, 2009, and are subject to weighted-average anti-dilution protection for issuances of
securities below the conversion price.

The Company has filed a registration statement with the SEC for resale of the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
the Series D Preferred Stock, Series A Warrants, Series B Warrants, and Wainwright Warrants. The Series D Investors have
since exercised all of the Series A Warrants and have paid the exercise price of $1,946,000 to the Company. In addition, the
Series D Investors have also converted 385 shares of the Series D Preferred Stock into 550,000 shares of Common Stock.
Upon receipt of the Series A Warrant exercise fee, the Company paid Wainwright a cash fee of $60,000 as further
compensation for acting as placement agent on the MidSummer Transaction. In January 2006 Wainwright exercised 202,000
warrants and the Company received $127,000 in cash for the exercise.

Issuance of Common Stock in Connection with the Acquisition of the Flix Business

On April 29, 2005 (the “Closing Date”), we completed the acquisition of certain assets related to the “Flix” software line of
business of Wildform, Inc. (“Wildform™). In connection with the acquisition, On2 and Wildform entered a Support and
Maintenance Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2005, under which Wildform agreed to perform certain software integration,
technical support and marketing services. In consideration for the services, we agreed to pay Wildform $160,000 and
280,000 shares of Common Stock, issuable upon the 12-month anniversary of the Closing Date. We relied on Section (4)(2)
of the Securities Act in agreeing to issue the Stock without registration. We have agreed to file a registration statement to
register the shares of Common Stock issuable to Wildform.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

. : G . For the years ended December 31, ‘
Statements of Operations Data . - 2005 .. 2004 2003 2002 . 2001

Revenue ' $ 2,208,000 $ 3,028000  $ 3,302,000 $ 3353000 $ 2,220,000
Total operating expenses : . 6,497,000 6,518,000 5,665,000 8,621,000 17,599,000
Loss from operations | (42890000 (3,490,000)  (2363000)  (5268,000) (15,379,000)
Interest and other income (expeénse), net - . (284,000) t 47,000 - (2,000) - (5,000) (1,589,000)
Provision for income'taxes . o ) A . -32,000 : . 2,000 . . 10,000 28,000 64,000
Netloss - L T (4,605,000) (3,445000)  (2375,000)  (5,301,000)  (17,032,000)
Convertible preferred stock deemed dividend 2,844,000 120,000 228,000 668,000 4,130,000
Convertible preferred stock 8% dividend - S 325,000 ‘ 57,000
Accretion of costs associated with the Series.D Pref, - 175,000 14,000
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ‘ $(7,949,000) $(3,636,000)  $(2,603,000)  $(5,969,000) $(21,162,000)
Basic and diluted riet loss attributable to common o - '
stockholdersf per common share - $ (0.09) $ 0.05 $§ 004 § .11 $ (0.64)
Balance Sheet Data - - ; - : -
Cash and cash equivalents Lo $ 3,976,000' $ 5418,000 $ 2,963,000 $ 553,000 $ 216,000
Working capital ' C 4,179,000 5,466,000 3,520,000 731,000 ,95’000
Total assets 6,314,000 6,610,000 4,128,000 2,080,000 3,927,000
Convertible debentures - 244,000 330,000 409,000 569,000 . 2,000,000
Capital lease obligations _ . 26,000 43,000 : . 9,000 ‘ ‘
Series:D redéemable convertible preferred stock 3,790,000 1,156,000 . -
Convertible preferred stock - ' 19,000 ‘ 33,000 56,000 99,000 129,000
Common stock and APIC o 120,695,000 ‘115,663,000 110,970,000 106,018,000 99,935,000
Accumulated deficit and other comprehehsive lo ¢! 19,330,000) y (111,400,000). (107,740,000) (105,135,000) (99,160,000)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,364,000 4,296,600 3,286,000 . 982,000 . 904,000

Item 7. ~ Management’s Discussion and Analysis of ‘Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and-analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are a leading video comptession technology firm. We have developed a proprietary technology platform and video
compression/decompression software:(“codec”) to allow the efficient storage of high-quality video and delivery of that video
at the lowest possible data rates over proprietary networks and the Internet to personal computers, wireless devices and set-
top boxes. We offer a suite of products and services based on our proprietary compression technology and multimedia server
software. Our service offerings include customized engineering, consulting services, technical support and high-level video
encoding. In addition, we license our software products, which include video and audio codecs, encoding and server
software, for use with video delivery platforms. We have also recently bégun to license software that encodes video in the
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Adobe/Macromedia Flash 8 format; the Flash 8 format uses our VP6 video codec.
Company History

Founded in 1992 as The Duck Corporation, a privately owned entity, we originally developed and marketed compression
technology that enabled developers of computer video games, video games for dedicated video game consolés and multi-
media presentations on computers to convert an analog video 51gnal to a digital video signal, and to compress the signal for
storage and playback on the required device.

In June of 1999, The Duck Corporation was merged with and into a wholly-owned subsidiary of Applied Capital Funding,
Inc., a public company whose name was concurrently changed to On2.com Inc. and subsequently changed to On2
Technologies, Inc. At that time, we had developed proprietary technology that enabled the compression, storage and
streaming of high quality video signals over high bandwidth networks (i.e. broadband). We adopted a business model in
which we would develop our own broadband content network powered by our proprietary technology. We intended to
generate revenue through advertising sales and electronic commerce. Through the first quarter of 2000, we devoted
substantially all of our efforts to building a content network and enhancing the technology to operate it. In that time, we made
three acquisitions: MetaVisual Creations Limited (“Metavisual”), Celebrity Interviews (“CII”’) and Quickband Networks, Inc.
(*“Quickband”). Metavisual was a compression technology firm located in the United Kingdom and had developed its own
video compression technology. That technology is instrumental in the compression technology we offer today. CII and
Quickband were entities that had created, and had the resources to continue to create, contént that we had intended to
incorporate into our content network. Through CII and Quickband, we primarily acquired produced content, certain
distribution arrangements and certain production personnel.

By the second quarter of 2000, with the rapid decline in the Internet industry and the lack of interest in content networks,
we determined that operating a content network would not be profitable for the foreseeable future. This was evident through
rapid declines in Internet advertising and electronic commerce, the two areas in which we intended to generate our revenues.
At no time did we generate any revenues from the content network. Révenues generated from any content related assets were
the result of legacy arrangements in place prior to our acquisitions of CII and Quickband. As such, we decided to cease
production on our content network and developed a strategic business model to distribute our video compression technology
to IP based clients as well as those offering video through proprietary networks and consumer electronics and wireless
devices. This is the business model under which we currently operate.

In view of the rapidly evolving nature of our business and our limited operating history, we have limited experience
forecasting our revenues and operating costs. Therefore, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of financial results are
not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance. To date, we have
incurred substantial costs to create technology products and services. As of December 31, 2005, we had an accumulated
deficit of $119.3 million. We will continue to incur costs to develop, introduce and enhance products and services, build
brand awareness, and expand our business. We may also incur significant additional costs related to technotogy, marketing or
acquisitions of businesses and technologies to respond t6 changes in this rapidly developing industry. These costs may not
correspond with any meaningful increases in revenues in the near term, if at all. As such, these costs may result in negative
operating cash flows until such time as we generate sufficient revenues to offset such costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial
statements that have been prepared under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. We
have disclosed all significant accounting policies in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-
K. The consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the following
discussion of our critical accounting policies. Our critical accounting policies and estimates are:

« Revenue recognition
* Equity-based compensation
* Valuation of goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets

20



Revenue Recognition. We currently recognize revenue from professional services and the sale of software licenses. As
described below, significant management judgments and estimates must be made and used in determining the amount of
revenue recognized in any given accounting period. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our revenue
for any given accounting period depending upon judgments made by or estimates utilized by management.

We recognize revenue in accordance with SOP 97-2, “SOFTWARE REVENUE RECOGNITION” (“SOP 97-27), as
amended by SOP 98-4, and SOP 98-9, “MODIFICATION -OF SOP 97-2 WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS” (“SOP 98-9”). Under each arrangement, revenues are recognized when a non-cancelable agreement has
been signed and the customer. acknowledges an unconditional obligation to pay, the products or applications have been
delivered, there are no uncertainties surrounding customer acceptance, the fees are fixed and determinable, and collection is
considered probable. Revenues recognized from multiple-element software arrangements are allocated to each element of the
arrangement based on the fair values of the elements, such as product licenses, post-contract customer support, or training.
The determination of the fair value is based on the vendor specific.objective evidence available to us. If such evidence of the
fair value of each element of the arrangement does not exist, we defer all revenue from the arrangement until such time that
evidence of the fair value does exist or until all elements of the arrangement are delivered.

Our software licensing arrangements typically consist of two elements: a software license and post-contract customer support
(“PCS™). We recognize license revenues based on the residual method after all elements other than PCS have been delivered
as prescribed by SOP 98-9. We recognize PCS revenues over the term of the maintenance contract or on a “per usage” basis,
whichever is stated in the contract. Vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of PCS is determined by reference to
the price the customer will have to pay for PCS when it is sold separately (i.e. the renewal rate). Most of our license
agreements offer additional PCS at a stated price. Revenue is recognized on a per copy basis for licensed software when each
copy of the licensed software purchased by the customer or reseller is delivered. We do not allow returns, exchanges or price
protection for sales of software licenses to our customers or resellers, and we do not allow our resellers to purchase software
licenses under consignment arrangements

When engineering and consulting services are sold together with a software license, the arrangement typically requires
customization and integration of the software into a third party hardware platform. In these arrangements, we require the
customer to pay a fixed fee for the engineering and consulting services and a licensing fee for rights to the software. We
account for engineering and consulting arrangements in accordance with SOP 81-1, “ACCOUNTING FOR
PERFORMANCE OF CONSTRUCTION TYPE AND CERTAIN PRODUCTION TYPE CONTRACTS,” (“SOP 81-1").
When reasonably dependable estimates are available for the costs and efforts necessary to complete the engineering or
consulting services and those services do not include contractual milestones or other acceptance criteria, we recognize
revenue under the percentage of completion contract method based upon input measures, such as hours. When such estimates
are not available, we defer all revenue recognition until we have completed the contract and have no further obligations to the
customer.

Encoding Services consist of services that convert video and audio content into formats for delivery to end-users.
Encoding services are generally provided under per unit or time and materials contracts. Under these contracts, we recognize
revenue when services have been rendered and we hdve no further interest or obligation in the goods and services, which is
generally the date on which the goods or services have been delivered to the customer.

Equity-based compensation. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” encourages the use of the fair
value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Alternatively, SFAS No. 123 allows entities to
continue to apply the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations and provide pro forma disclosures of net income (loss) and
earnings (loss) per share, as if the fair value-based method of accounting had been applied to employee awards. The
Company has elected to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion 25 and provide the disclosures required by
SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.”

Valuation of Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets. In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB™) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). SFAS 142 requires goodwill and other intangible assets to be tested for impairment at least
annually, and written off when impaired, rather than being amortrzed as previously required
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Long-lived assets and identifiable intangibles with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and
used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower
of the carrying amount or fair value less costs'to sell. As of December 31, 2005, the Company believes that no such
impairment has occurred. ,

Results of Operations

Revenue. Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $2,208,000, $3,028,000 and $3,302,000,
respectively and was derived from the sale of software licenses, engineering and consulting services and license royalties.
Revenue decreased $820,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared with 2004. The decrease is attributable to
the sale of a single license to Macromedia for approximately $1,500,000 in 2004 partially offset by increases in revenue
generated from license royalties and the sale of licenses from our Flix line of Flash encoding software. As a percent of total
sales, license revenue increased to 88% in 2005 from 85% in 2004 while engineering services and support decreased to 7% in
2005 from 14% in 2004 and royalties increased to 5% of sales in 2005 from 1% in 2004. Revenue decreased $38,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2004 as compared with 2003. The decrease is attributable to a small decrease in engineering fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, license revenue 'was $1,947,000 of which ‘the Company’s VPx licenses were
$1,381,000 and Flix licenses were $566,000. For the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, license revenue was
$2,571,000 and $2,637,000 respectively, consisting of all VPx licenses.

The folllowing table sets forth the allocation of révenues, in terms of percentages, for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2003: :

2005 2004 2003

Licenses 88% 85% ‘ 80%
Engineering services and support ' o , 7 14 19
Royalties : 5 1 1

Total : - - 100% 100% 100%

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, software licenses were the significant revenue stream and are
expected to be the significant future revenue stream as we continue to provide these services and products to clients who
deliver high quality video to proprietary networks, consumer electronic devices, wireless applications and IP based end users.

OPERATING EXPENSES

The Company’s operating expenses consist of cost of revenues, research and development, sales and marketing and
general and administrative expenses. Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
$6,497,000, $6,518,000 and $5,665,000, respectively.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue includes personnel and related overhead expenses, rent and related energy costs, fees
paid for licensed technology, depreciation, amortization of purchased intangible assets and certain other operating expenses.
Cost of revenue was $1,919,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared with $1,437,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Cost of revenue increased $482,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared with 2004, The
increase is primarily attributable to an increase of approximately $124,000 in personnel and related overhead, $203,000
associated with the support of the Flix product line by Wildform in 2005, and $164,000 in amortization of the Flix software
assets. Cost of revenues was $1,437,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $1,506,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2003, Cost of revenue decreased $69,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004, however when
excluding amortization of $463,000 in 2003 related to purchased technology, cost of revenue increased by $400,000. The
$400,000 increase is due to $165,000 in equity-based compensation and $235,000 in additional personnel costs.
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Research and Development. Research and development expenses includes personnel and related overhead expenses, rent
and related energy costs and depreciation, associated with the development and pre-production of our products and services.
Research and development expenses were $1,035,000 and $884,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The increase of $151,000 is primarily from an increase of approximately $156,000 in personnel ‘and related
overhead attributed to research-and development. - Research and development expenses were $1,124,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The decrease of $240,000, in the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared with 2003, is primarily
from a decrease in personnel and depreciation allocated to research and development. We believe that continued investments
in research and development are necessary to improve our competmve advantage and we will contmue to invest in such costs
as considered necessary : :

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related overhead costs, tradeshow
costs, marketing and promotional costs incurred to create brand awareness and public relations expenses. Sales and marketing
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $794,000 as compared with $459,000 for the year ended December 31,
2004. The increase of $335,000 is primarily attributable to an increase in personnel and related overhead expenses and an
increase in tradeshow and promotional costs. Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 were
$527,000. The decrease of $68,000, for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared with 2004, is attributable to a
decrease in personnel and tradeshow costs, We intend to continue to recruit and hire experienced personnel, as necessary, to
sell and market our products and services.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related overhead costs for
general corporate functions including legal, finance, human resources and management information systems. Also included
are outside legal and professional fees, stock-listing fees, reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable and costs of liability
and directors and offices’ insurance. General and administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $2,749,000
as compared with $3,068,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The decrease of $319,000 is attributable to a decrease in
outside legal fees, stock listing fees and a decrease in the reserve for uncollectible accounts receivable partially offset by an
increase in personnel and related overhead expenses as a result of increases in labor and related overhead rates. General and
administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $2,448,000. The. increase of $620,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared with 2003, is attributable to an increase in legal fees, stock listing fees and an increase in the
reserve for uncollectible accounts receivable partially offset by decreases in depreciation and insurance costs.

Fquity-based Compensation. During 2004 the Company granted restricted stock to its employees and directors as
compensation. The company issued 870,000 shares of its common stoeck, with a fair value of $835,000. The related
compensation expense of $835,000 was recognized in 2004, including $165,000 included in cost of revenue.

1 : : :

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net. Interest and other income (expense) was $(284,000) for the year ended
December 31, 2005 as compared with $47,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The $284,000 in interest and other
expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2005 is primarily a result of a $339,000 unrealized loss on marketable equity
securities, interest paid on debt of $39,000 partially offset by interest earned on the Company’s cash balances of $89,000 and
$5,000 in other income. Interest and other income (expense) was $(2,000) for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
increase in interest and other income of $49,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared with 2003, is primarily a
result of net gain on marketable equity securities in 2004 partially offset by the E-Coin settlement received in 2003. Interest
and other income (expense) primarily consists of net gains (losses) on marketable equity securities and interest earned on our
cash and cash equivalent balances, interest on capltal lease obhgatlons and indebtedness, and the amortization of debt
discounts.

Income Taxes. Income taxes reflect state and local franchise taxes. Income taxes were $32,000, $2,000 and 10,000 for rhe
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

At December 31, 2005, we had approximately 35 full-time employees. We expect to hire employees as necessary in order
to attain our strategic objectives. .
Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2005, the Company had cash and cash equivzﬂents of $3,976,000 as compared with $5,418,000 at
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December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2005 we had working capital of $4,179,000 as compared with $5,466,000 at
December 31, 2004. ,

Net cash used in operating activities was $4,307,000, $2,108,000 and $1,980,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The net cash used in 2005 was principally from the net loss of $4,605,000, adjusted for
$236,000 of depreciation and amortization and $339,000 of unrealized loss on marketable securities, and an increase in
accounts receivable of $497,000. The net cash used in 2004 was principally from the net loss of $3,445,000 adjusted for
$835,000 of equity-based compensation, $115,000 of depreciation and amortization and $289,000 of marketable securities
received as payment of a license fee, partially offset by a decrease in accounts receivable of $427,000, an increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $203,000 and an increase in deferred revenue of $123,000. The net cash used in 2003 was
principally from the net loss of $2,375,000, adjusted for $706,000 of depreciation and amortization, an increase in accounts
receivable of $225,000 and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $180,000.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities was $(1,420,000), $70,000 and $(39,000) for the years ended December
31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The net cash used in 2005 was principally for the purchase of the Flix software line
from Wildform for $1,229,000 and purchases of property and equipment of $116,000. The net cash provided in 2004 reflects
$89,000 of proceeds from the sale of marketable equlty securities. The net cash used in 2003 was for purchases of property
and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $4,286,000, $4,517,000 and $4,431,000 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The net cash provided in 2005 was principally from $4,365,000 of proceeds from the
exercise of stock options and warrants. . The net cash provided in 2004 is principally from net proceeds of $3,699,000 from
the issuance of Series D redeemable, convertible preferred stock and $830,000 from the exercise of stock options and
warrants. The net cash provided in 2003 is principally from proceeds of $3,105,000 from the exercise of stock options and
warrants and $1,314,000 from the sale of common stock.

The Company currently has no material commitments for the next 12 months other than those under operating lease
arrangements. These arrangements consist primarily of lease arrangements for the Company’s office space in Clifton Park
and New York City. The aggregate required payments for the next 12 months under these arrangements are $183,000.
Additionally, notwithstanding the above, our most significant non-contractual operating costs for the next 12 months are
compensation and benefit costs, insurance costs and general overhead costs such as telephone and utilities. During 2006, we
anticipate incurring approximately $600,000 per month in cash operating costs.

The Company believes that existing funds are sufficient to fund its operations through 2006. The Company plans to
increase cash flows from operations principally from increases in revenue generated from its compression technology
services and products. The Company may also pursue additional financings. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Factors That May Affect Future Operating Results.”

In October 2004, the Company designated 4,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Series D Convertible
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series D Preferred”) and completed the sale of 4,000 shares of Series D Preferred at
$1,000 per share to two institutional investors, led by Midsummer Investment Ltd., for net proceeds of $3,699,000. The
Series D Convertible Preferred is convertible at any time into common stock at an initial conversion prlce of $0.70 per share
of common stock.

The Series D Preferred is mandatorily redeemable by the Company over an 18-month period beginning in October 2006.
Such redemptions can be made in cash or Common Stock, at the Company’s option. If redemptions are made in Common
Stock, the number of shares issuable upon redemption is dependent on the average of the volume-weighted average trading
price of the Common Stock for the 20 trading days immediately prior to the redemption date.

The Investors also received one-year warrants (the “Series A Warrants”) to purchase an aggregate of 2,594,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $0.65 per share and five-year warrants (the “Series B Warrants”) to purchase an
aggregate of 2,994,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.76 per share. The Series D Preferred and warrants
are subject to certain anti-dilution protection for issuances of securities below the conversion price. Holders of Series D
Preferred are entitled to receive an 8% annual cumulative dividend, payable quarterly in cash or shares of Common Stock at
the Company’s option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. In 2005, the Series D Investors have exercised all of
the Series A Warrants and paid the exercise price of $1,946,000 to the Company.
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The Series D Preferred includes a liquidation preference. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company, either voluritary or involuntary; the holders of shares of Series D Preferred are entitled to receive an amount equal
to $1,000 per share. The liquidation price per share would be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution
prior to any payments made on any shares of the Company’s junior securities.

We have experienced significant operating losses and negative operating cash flows to date. Our management’s plan to
increase our cash flows from operations relies significantly on increases in revenue generated from our compression
technology services and products. However, there are no assurances that we will be successful in effecting such increases.
The market for distribution of compression technology services is highly competitive. Additionally, our capital requirements
depend on numerous factors, including market acceptance of our technology and services, research and development costs
and the resources we spend on marketing and selling our products and services. Additionally, we continue to evaluate
investments in complementary businesses, products and services, some of which may be significant.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect
on the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity,
‘capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

' Paymients due by period
Less than 1 1-3 3-5  Morethan$
Contractual Obligations Total year years years _years
Series A Secured Convertible P
5.75% Debentures $ 250,000 $ 250,000
Capital lease obligation 30,000 $ 30,000
Operating lease for office space 402,000 18‘2,000 211,000 $ 9,000
Total $-682,000  § 432,000  § 241000 _§ 9,000

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”). SFAS
123(R) addresses the accounting for transactions in which an ‘enterprise exchanges its equity instruments for employee
services. It also addresses transactions in which an enterprise incurs liabilities that are based on the fair value of the
enterprise’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments in exchange for employee
services. The cost of employee serv1ces received in exchange for equity instruments, including employee stock options, is to
be measured on the grant-date fair value of those instruments. That cost will be recognized as compensation expense over the
service period, which would normally be the vesting perlod SFAS 123(R) became effective for the Company as of January
1, 2006. The impact of adopting SFAS 123(R) cannot currently be csnmated since it will depend on future share-based
awards. .

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB
Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” (“SFAS 154”). This Statement replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting
Changes, and FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and changes the
requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. This statement is effective for fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2005 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

Limitation on Use of Net Operating Loss and Ot_her Tax Credit Carry-Forwards

At December 31, 2005, the Company had available net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $84,986,000.
The net operating loss carry-forwards expire at various dates through 2025.
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Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that when a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the
corporation’s use of its net operating losses is limited in each subsequent year. An “ownership change” occurs when, as of
any testing date, the sum of the increases in ownership of each shareholder. that owns five percent or more of the value of a
company’s stock as compared to that shareholder’s lowest percentage ownership during the preceding three-year period
exceeds fifty percentage points. For purposes of this rule, certain shareholders who own less than five percent of a company’s
stock are aggregated and treated as a single five-percent stockholder.

The merger of The Duck Corporation® with and into a wholly-owned subsidiary of Applied Capital Funding, Inc. may
have involved an “ownership change” and thus we may be unable to use a material portion of our available net operating loss
carry-forwards. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Company
History”. Furthermore, in the ordinary course of the Company’s business operations we have and may continue to issue
shares in conjunction with acquisitions or additional financing, in order to meet the Company’s growth objectives and
liquidity constraints. In addition, the exercise of outstanding warrants and certain options to purchase shares of Common
Stock may require us to issue additional shares of Common Stock. Past and future issuances of shares of Common Stock may
limit our ability to use a substannal amount of our available net operating loss carry-forwards to reduce future taxable
income.

The extent of the actual future use of our net operating loss carry-forwards is subject to inherent uncertainty because it
depends on the amount of otherwise taxable income we may earn. We cannot give any assurance that we will have sufficient
taxable income in future years to use any of our net operating loss carry-forwards before they would otherwise expire.

Risk Factors That May Affect Future Operating Results

In evaluating our business, prospective investors and shareholders should carefully consider the following risks in addition
to the other information in this 10-K or in the documents referred to in this 10-K. Any of the following risks could have a
material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition and result in a complete loss of your
investment.

We may need to obtain additional cash to operate our business, and to be able to execute our business
plan and may not achieve profitability.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses and negative cash flow from operations, and as of December 31,
2005, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $119.3 million. On February 28, 2006, we had cash reserves of
approximately $3,626,000. During fiscal 2006, we expect to meet our working capital obligations and other cash
requirements with cash derived from the sale of our products and services and from our cash reserves. There can be no
assurance, however, that cash derived from the sale of our products and services will be sufficient for our operating needs or
that we will be able to achieve profitability on a consistent basis, if at all. In the event that cash used in operations is higher
than anticipated and we are unable to secure additional funding, in order to preserve cash, we would be required to further
reduce expenditures and effect further reductions in our corporate infrastructure, either of which could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to continue our current level of operations. Even if we obtain additional working capital in the
near future, to the extent that operating expenses increase or we need additional funds to make acquisitions, develop new
technologies or acquire strategic assets, the need for additional funding may be accelerated and there can be no assurances
that any such additional funding can be obtained on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

If we cannot generate sufficient positive cash flows from our operations, our operating results and our
stock price may be negatively impacted.

We currently do not generate sufficient revenues to offset our operating costs. Moreover, as we continue to expand
our product and service offerings to maintain our competitive advantage, we may be required to incur additional costs to hire
and retain additional personnel, license complementary third party technology for use in our proprietary software or expand
both our international and domestic presence to enter new markets. These costs may significantly increase our current level of
monthly operating expenses. Failure to generate sufficient capital through both our revenue streams and financings may
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require us to execute additional corporate restructurings, scale back our product or service offerings or limit the markets into
which we enter. Any of these items, or a combination thereof, could have a harmful effect on our operating results and our
stock price. '

We have a history of losses and negative cash flow from operations and anticipate continued losses.

We have not achieved profitability, and it is a possibility that we will continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable
future as we fund operating and capital expenditures in implementing our business plan. Our business model assumes that
consumers will be attracted to and use broadband-specific video compression technology to access content available on
customer Web sites or over proprietary networks that will, in turn, allow us to provide our technology solutions to customers.
Our business model is not yet proven, and we cannot assure you that we will ever aclieve or sustain profitability or that our
operating losses will not increase in the future. Our business strategy may be unsuccessful and we may not be able to
adequately address all or any of these risks. Even if we are able to achieve profitability, we may be unable to sustain or
increase our profitability. In either case, our operating results and liquidity would be harmed.

Our stock price may ﬂuctuatefor reasons beyond our control, which could result in losses on your investment
in our stock. . .

“Fluctuations in the market price of our common stock may adversély affect our access to capital and financing and our
ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. Historically, our common stock price has fluctuated widely, with a 52-week
range as of March 13,.2006 of $0.52 to $1.48. We expect fluctuations to continue in the future for a number of reasons,
including:

* quarterly variations in our operating results;

* competitive announcements;

+ the operating and stock price performance of other companies that mvestors may deem comparable to us;
* news relating to trends in our markets; and o

* changes in financial estimates by securities analysts of failure to meet analyst estimates.

In addition, the stock market genérally has experiencejd significant price and volume fluctuations, and the market prices of
companies in our industry have beea highly volatile. Due to the volatility of the.stock market generally, the price of our
common stock could fluctuate for reasons beyond our control. .

The sale of shares eligible for future sale in the open market may cause our stock price to decline
and could hinder. our future ability to raise capital.

i

Sales of s1gn1ﬁcant amounts of our common stock in the public market in the future the percepuon that sales will occur,
or the registration of shares could significantly depress the market price of our common stock or hinder our future ability to
raise capital. We have granted some of the holders of our securities demand registration rights and anti-dilution protections,
which may require us to issue additional shares to those holders certain triggering events occur, such as our failure to register
such holders’ shares or the issuance of additional shares of our common stock below a certain price.. We may also issue
additional shares in acquisitions and may grant additional stock options to our employees, officers, directors and consultants
under the stock option plans

If we are unable to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled employees, we may not be able
to execute our business plan. :
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QOur ability to execute our growth plan and be successful depends on our continuing ability to attract, retain and motivate
highly skilled employees. As we continue to grow, we will need to hire additional personnel in all operational areas. We may
be unable to retain our key employees or attract, assimilate or retain other highly qualified employees in the future. We have
from time to time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and
retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. If we do not succeed in attracting new personnel or
retaining and motivating our current personnel, customers could experience delays in service, which could, in turn, adversely
affect our operating results and revenue. Additionally, retention of highly skilled employees may require additional personnel
costs or the issuance of certain equity compensation. These factors would reduce profitability and the price of our common
stock. : :

Much of our technology relies on owned or licensed intellectual property, and if such rights are not -
protected from the use of others, including potential competitors, our business prospects may be harmed.

The failure to protect our intellectual property could seriously harm. our businesses and prospects because we believe that
our technology is unique and that its proprietary nature is critical to our success. If our prospects are harmed, the price of our
common stock may decline because we may be less attractive to investors. Our efforts to protect our intellectual property
through trademarks, copyrights, patents, trade secret laws, access to information and confidentiality agreements may not be
adequate to protect our proprietary rights. Even with all of these precautions, it could be possible for someone else to either
copy or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary information without our authorization or to develop similar technology
independently. In addition, effective trademark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in
which our products and services are made available, and policing unauthorized use of our proprietary information is difficult
and expensive. We cannot be sure that the steps we have taken will prevent misappropriation of our proprietary information.
In the future, we may need to go to court to either enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. That litigation might result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources and management attention.

Although we do not currently license material third party technologies the loss of which could adversely affect our
business, we do from time to time license from third parties technologies incorporated into some of our products and
services. As we continue to introduce new services that incorporate new technologies, we may be required to license
additional technology from others. We cannot be sure that these third-party technology licenses will continue to be available
on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

The broadband video services and technology markets are highly competitive, and our failure to compete
effectively could hurt our revenue and reduce our gross margins and profitability.

We face significant competition in the market for our technology and services. In establishing our broadband strategy, we
face a number of strong, firmly entrenched competitors, who are currently providing similar services to low-bandwidth users
and high-bandwidth users and have greater financial, technical and marketing resources than us. These and other companies
have announced plans to provide broadband video-based services and technology. In addition to competition from other
Internet content and technology companies, well-established media distribution companies, particularly in the cable
television and satellite markets, have established, and continue to seek to establish, interactive, on-demand digital services
through the development of sophisticated digital set-top technology and related back-end server systems. Those competitors
could cause us to lose customers and impair our ability to attract new customers.

If we fail to keep pace with technological advances in our industry or if we pursue technologies that do
not become commercially accepted, customers may not buy our products and our revenue and profitability
may decline.

Our future success depends, in large part, on our ability to 'use leading technologies effectively, to develop our
technological expertise, to enhance our existing services and to develop new services that meet changing customer needs on a
timely and cost-effective basis. We are unable to predict which technological developments will challenge our competitive
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position or the amount of expenditures that will be required to respond to a rapidly changing technological environment. Our
failure to respond in a timely and effective manner to new and evolving technologies could have a negative impact on our
operating results and financial condition.

Regulatory changes in the internet industry involve uncertainties, and the resolution of these
uncertainties could adversely affect our business by raising our costs or reducing potential revenues.

Although we are not currently subject to direct regulation by any governméntal agency other than rules and regulations
that apply to businesses generally and any export and import controls which may apply to our products, laws and regulations
specifically pertaining to the Internet are new and developing. These laws, when enacted may require us to comply with new
procedures or limit the scope of our technology or-services, which could raise our expenses or reduce. our revenues. The
developing laws and regulations govern matters such as online content, intellectual property, user privacy, e-commerce,
information security and taxation. Moreover, we may be liable to.third parties for-any content that we encode, distribute or
make available on our website if that content violates a third party’s intellectual property rights or violates any applicable
laws, such as obscenity laws or defamation laws. In addition, the applicability of existing laws to the Internet is uncertain and
evolving.

Effects of anti-takeover provisions could inhibit potentwl investors or delay or prevent a change of
control that may favor you.

Some of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law could, together or separately:

» discourage potential acquisition proposals;
+ delay or prevent a change in control; and
» limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

In particular, our board of directors is authorizéd to issue up to 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock (less any outstanding
shares of preferred stock) with rights and privileges that might be senior to our common stock, without the consent of the
holders of the common stock.

We have never paid common stock dividends and do not anticipate paying common stock dividends in the
foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain earnings, if any, to’ support our growth strategy We do not antlclpate paying dividends on
our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company does not currently have any material exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, exchange rate risk,
commodity price risk or other relevant market rate or price risks. However, the Company does have some exposure to
foreign currency rate fluctuations arising from maintaining an office for the Company's U.K. based, wholly-owned subsidiary
which transacts business in the local functional currency. The U.K. based subsidiary does not conduct any sales and all their
costs are funded in United States dollars. To date, the Company has not entered into any derivative financial instrument to
manage foreign currency risk and is not currently evaluating the future use of any such financial instruments.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements are included herein and filed as a part of this report. See Index on page F-1.
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Item 9.  Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures: .

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our chief executive dfﬁcer and chief financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), as of the end of the period
covered by this Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. Based upon this evaluation process, our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities
Exchange Act, that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.  Other Information

None.
PART IIT

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Ac

The information required is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Directors and Executive Officers”, “The
Board of Directors” and “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act” contained in the 2006 Proxy Statement,
which is to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about April 10, 2006 (the “2006 Proxy Statement™).

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

The information required is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Executive Compensation™ contained in
the 2006 Proxy Statement, which is to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required is. inborporated by reference from the sections entitled “Security Ownership of Principal
Stockholders” and “Security Ownership of Executive Officers and Directors” contained in the 2006 Proxy Statement.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” contained in the 2006 Proxy Statement.
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Item 14. . Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Proposal To Ratify the Appointment of
Eisner LLP” contained in the 2006 Proxy Statement. i :

PARTIV o
Item 15. Exhibits.
Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibitéj which appears below, are filed as a part of this annual report.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form  Date Filed Filed Herewith
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company 10-K April 2, 2001 : :
32 Bylaws of the Company ' . Sch. 14A March 25, 2002
4.1 Securityholders Agreement, dated as of Det’; 1,1999, 10-K March 30, 2000

between the Company and thirteen securityholders party o
thereto
42 Form of Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of 10-K . March 30, 2000

Dec. 1, 1999,between the Company and each of
nine investors

43 Form of Warrant issued to the investors party to the 10-K March 30, 2000
Investor Rights Agreement '
44 Form of Investors’ Rights Agreement between the S-3 Dec. 8, 2000

Company and the holders of Series C Preferred Stock,
Series C-II Preferred Stock and Series C-II1 Preferred

Stock ’ ‘
4.5 Certificate of Designations for the Company’s Series C 10-K April 2,2001]
Preferred Stock ‘
4.6 - Certificate of Designations for the Company’s Series C- 10-K April 2, 2001
II Preferred Stock ) . .
4.7 " Certificate of Designations for the Company s Series C-"10-K April 2, 200!
. I Preferred Stock ’ o
4.8 Form of Warrant issued to the holders of Series C, - 10-K April 2, 2001
Series C-II and Series C-III Preferred Stock ’
49 Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of SB-2/A Sept. 13, 2001 |
July 18, 2001 by and between the Company and Real.’ . . )
4.10 Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of July 18,2001, SB-2/A Sept. 13, 2001 )
between Real and the Company
4.11 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2002, by - S 3 July 11, 2003

and among The Travelers Insurance Company,
Travelers Indemnity Company, and the Company -
4.12 Investor's Rights Agreement, dated as of January 29,  S-3 Oct. 1,2003

2001, between the Company and Abanat Limited
10.1 Employment Agreement with Douglas MclIntyre 10-Q June 30, 2000
10.2 Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Dec. 1,S-3 ) Dec. 8, 2000
2000,between the Company and Crossover Ventures,
‘ Inc. T
10.3 Deferred Pricing Agreement, dated as of January 19, 10-K April 2, 2001

2001, between the Company and The Travelers
Indemnity Company

10.4 Development Services and License Agreement dated SB-2/A Sept. 13, 2001
July 18, 2001 between the Compariy and RealNetworks, : o
Inc., subject to an Order Granting Confidential
Treatment under The Securities Exchange Act of 1933
(CF #11815). ' . ) ‘

10.5 Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of SB-2 Nov. 29, 2001
November 21, 2001 between the Company and
Crossover Ventures, Inc. .
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form  Date Filed Filed Herewith
10.6 Lease Agreement, dated as of Sept. 26, 2002 between  10-K March 31, 2003

the Company and Sitterly Associates II, LLC

10.7 Source Code License and Software Distribution 8-K June 21, 2003
Agreement (EVD Products) dated as of June 21, 2003
between On2 Technologies, Inc., Beijing E-World and
Nature Talent Limited.

10.8 Source Code License and Software Distribution 8-K June 21, 2003
Agreement (Non-EVD Products) dated as of June 21,
2003 between On2 Technologies, Inc., Beijing E-World
and Nature Talent Limited.

10.9 Software Distribution Agreement, dated as of August  §-K August 25, 2003
25, 2003, by and between the Company and Allied :
Telesis K. K.

10.10 Employment Agreement with Tim Reusing 10-K March 30, 2004

10.11 Employment Agreement with Eric Ameres 10-K March 30, 2004

10.12 Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 27, 2004 S-3 Nov. 26, 2004

10.13 Letter Agreement by and between the Company and 10-Q
Eric L. Ameres, dated as of May 11, 2005

10.14 Letter Agreement by and between the Company and
Timothy C. Reusing, dated as of May 11, 2005

10.15 License Agreement by and between the Company and ‘ X
Bevmax Office Centers 1560, LLC

10.16 Restated Lease Agreement by and between the X
Company and Sitterly Associates II

10.17 Separation and Consultancy Agreement by and between ‘ X
the Company and Douglas A. McIntyre, dated as of
February 2, 2006 ‘

21 Subsidiaries 10-K- March 31, 2003

231 Consent of Eisner LLP X

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to X
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Action of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to X

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Action of 2002

321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 X
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 ' X
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

{(b) Reports filed on Form §-K for the three months ended December 31, 2005.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on January 12, 2005, providing a transcript of a conference call hosted by
the Company’s Chairman, President, and CEO, Douglas A. McIntyre.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on March 14, 2005, announcing the London Court of International
Arbitration tribunal’s decision in the Company’s proceedings against its licensee, Beijing E-World.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on March 15, 2005 containing a press release announcing the Company’s
results of operations for the fourth quarter ending December 31, 2004.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on April 5, 2005 containing a press release announcing that it had entered
into a purchase and license agreement with Wildform, Inc., regarding Wildform's Flix™ Flash video encoder technology.
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The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on April 21, 2005 containing a press release announcing the Company’s
results of operations for the first quarter ending March 31, 2005.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on May 5, 2005 announcing that it had completed the acquisition of
certain Flix™ Flash® video encoder technology from Wildform, Inc.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form §-K on May il, 2005 announcing the adoption of the Company’s 2005
Incentive Compensation Plan.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on May 13, 2005 announcing:

s the adoption of the annual meeting fees and option granis for members of the Company’s Board for the
upcoming year; :

o the extension of the employment terms of the Company’s three executive officers for one year each: Mr.
Mclntyre the Company’s Chairman, President, and CEO until April 16, 2007; Eric Ameres the Company’s
Executive Vice-President and Chief Technology Officer until September 15, 2006; and Timothy Reusing
the Company’s Executive Vice-President, Legal and Business Affairs, until October 15, 2006; and

¢ the appointment of Afsaneh Naimollah and James Meyer to the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on May 31, 2005 announcing the Company’s adoption of a new Code of
Ethics for Employees and Directors.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on July 28, 2005 containing a press release announcing the Company’s
resuits of operations for the second quarter ending June 30, 2005.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on October 27, 2005 containing a press release announcing the
Company’s results of operations for the third quarter ending September 30, 2005.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on November 28, 2005 announcing the adoption of the annual meeting
fees and option grants for members of the Company’s Board for the coming year.
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SIGNATURES

Pursunant to the requirements of Section 13 ér 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Company
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereby duly authorized on March 15, 2006.

ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: _Js/ James Meyer
James Meyer
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exéhange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature ' Title ‘ | Déte
Interim Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Director March 15, 20
/s/ James Meyer _ ‘
(James Meyer)
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
/s/ Anthony Principe ‘ " Officer) ‘ March 15, 20
(Anthony Principe)
/s/ J. Allen Kosowsky Chairman of the Board and Director March 15, 20
{J. Allen Kosowsky)
/s/ William A. Newman Director : March 15, 20
(William A. Newman)
/s/ Mike Kopetski Director March 15, 20
(Mike Kopetski )
/s/ Thomas Weigman Director March 15, 200
(Thomas Weigman)
/s/ Michael J. Alfant Director March 15, 200
{Michael J. Alfant)
/s/ Afsaneh Naimollah Director March 15, 200
(Afsaneh Naimollah)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
1, James Meyer, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of On2 Technologies, Inc.;.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this repon

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclesure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

- consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or.caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and :

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal.quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially -affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability. to record, process,

summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006

By: /s JAMES MEYER

James Meyer
Interim Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Anthony Principe, certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of On2 Technologies, Inc. ;.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement.of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; .

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over ﬁnanc1al reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and’

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions): : .

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006

By: /s/f ANTHONY PRINCIPE
Anthony Principe
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C: SECTION 1359,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

For purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
the undersigned, James Meyer, the chairman, president, and chlef executive officer of On2 Technologies, Inc. (the
“Company”), hereby certifies that, to his knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange‘ Act of 1934; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fa1rly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company

By: /s/ JAMES MEYER
James Meyer
Interim
Chief Executive Officer
On2 Technologies, Inc.

March 15, 2006
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUAN TTO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTICN 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

For purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
undersigned, Anthony Principe, the chief financial officer of On2 Technologies, Inc. (the “Company™), hereby certifies that,
to his knowledge: »

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of
section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

By: ~/s/ ANTHONY PRINCIPE
Anthony Principe
Chief Financial Officer
On2 Technologies, Inc.

March 15, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
On2 Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of On2 Technologies, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. These consolidated financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits. '

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements enumerated above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of On2 Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information stated therein.

/s/ EISNER LLP

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
January 20, 2006




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2005 2004
(Restated-Note 14)

ASSETS (Note 8)

Current assets: ‘
Cash and cash eqUiValents........ccoecriiiriiiii e $ 3,976,000 $ 5,418,000

Marketable securities, at MATKEL........cccvireciiereiiieee et ctee e raree e e ernne e 181,000 445,000
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,000 and $140, OOO as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively ..o, e 746,000 249,000
Prepaid expenses and other Current assets ..ot 186,000 ‘ 156,000
TOtAl CUITENE ASSELS ...vvvovereriareesnsicessere i eeneebes s gese s : 5,089,000 6,268,000
Acquired software, net 667,000
Other acquired intangibles, net . ‘ 154,000
Goodwill : 244,000
Property and eqUIPMENt, NEt........c..vcveeeeirrmenenimirecererees bt ' 131,000 87,000
Deferred finanCing COSIS......oooivieiiieiereriieevereie e sresisn et 175,000
OHDET ASSELS ..vevivireeieterieieere ettt e see e ettt s st e es et es e neea 29,000 80,000
TOLAL ASSELS ..veeieiiiieiiiie e vteeertreeettr e e et e e rseb e s sencreessreesatteesensae e saeeansbaaenenes $ 6,314,000 $ 6,610,000

" LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities: : .
Accounts payable ... et $ 41,000 $ 177,000

ACCIUEd EXPENSES .evveeecrieieeiaeeeierie e eereeeegae s e e eenenrens FE OO 608,000 393,000
DEfeITEA TEVEIUE ..ot ettt e et e e et e cre s e serreseenssenans 241,000 153,000
Term-loan......ccoocevvviviiioniiiirenees e s 62,000
Capital 1ease 0blIZALION .....eocoivriiiiiriiniiciie ittt ceceeneneens 20,000 17,000
Total current HATHHES ......ovvveveeoreereverioreviiserreeeicseneseee s 910,000 802,000
Capital lease obligation, excluding current portion " 6,000 26,000
Convertible debentures, net of debt discount of $6,000 and $20,000 as of December 31, .
2005 and 2004, respectively ......occcccveneneiciiiccnceiene e e e 244,000 330,000
Total HADIES < ...t e 1,160,000 1,158,000

Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock $0.01 par value; 3,790 and 4,000 shares
issued and outstanding, net of discount of $0 and $2,844,000 at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively (liquidation value of $3,790,000 and $4 000 000 at December 31, 2005
and 2004, 1eSPECIVELY) ....ccovieririieeirte e et et sa e 3,790,000 1,156,000

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 1,849,000 and 3,299,000
convertible shares issued and outstanding at Deqember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively
(aggregate of liquidation value of $5,110,000 and $6,704,000 as of December 31, 2005

and 2004, TESPECLIVELY) ..vvvviriiiiiiire ettt st 19,000 33,000

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 92,295,000 and

80,328,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 311,2005 and 2004, respectively)... 923,000 803,000

Additional paid-in capital ......ccocoveniincnic fer 119,772,000 114,860,000

Accumulated other comprehensive 108S.....c..ooveneceninnn e e ——— (43,000) (42,000)

Accumulated deficit..........c.ccooveiiiiinnn FE U ST R OO PR PORR PO (119,307,000) (111,358,000)
Total stockholders' equity oo JEORT TP PR - 1,364,000 4,296,000
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity........cccovovunee., e $ 6,314,000 $ 6,610,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue (1)............ ...................................................................

Operating expenses:

Cost Of TEVENUE (2) cuvvvevriiiiiicireeitr et et N S H

Research and development (3) .......ccovvevvrcrnnnee e e
Sales and Marketing (3) ....cccvovvarrierierree et
General and administrative (3) ...occooveveeiiiiiiie e
Equity-based compensation:
Research and development .........c.ccoviiiinmnniiiiennineccnnaenneeseen:
Sales and MATKEtiNng......c.ccoeeririeciininieiicsi e e,
General and administrative......cccoccecveveeierninveconrerrer e B

Total Operating eXPenses.........vvvurriuiiiniriisinre s
L.0SS fTOM OPETALIONS. ... .eveirceniircriieie sttt st s ean e eene e,
Ipterest and other income (EXPENSe), NEL .....c.coevvecerrererrerreeerienerneesreenen,
Loss before provision for inCome taxes ......cocvvveeerereernrcrencannens e,
Prov.ision fOr INCOME LAXES. ... ecviveeiirireriieesiiee et res e,

AT B (e LT T USRS

Convertible preferred stock deemed dividend .........coceevveveriiinericccrinenenns
Convertible preferred stock 8% dividend ...........ccovvevvvivirnriencveniierineieenne,
Accretion of costs associated with the Series D Preferred Stock...............

Net loss attributable to common stockholders .........ccc...c...e.. ORI

Basic and diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders
Per commON ShaTe ..........cooeeviiiii e,

Weighted average basic and diluted common shares outstanding..............

(1) Includes $289,000 and $150,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively; from a related

party.

(2) Includes equity-based compensation of $165,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
(3) Excludes equity-based compensation, which is presented separately.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement&

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

$ 2,208,000 $ 3,028,000 $ 3,302,000

1,919,000 1,506,000

1,437,000
1,035,000 884,000 1,124,000
794,000 459,000 527,000
2,749,000 3,068,000 2,448,000
68000 . .
19,000
583,000 60,000
6,497,000 6,518,000 5,665,000
(4,289,000)  (3,490,000)  (2,363,000)
(284,000) 47,000 (2,000)
@,573,000)  (3,443000)  (2,365,000)
32,000 2,000 10,000
(4,605,000)  (3.445000)  (2,375,000)
2,844,000 120,000 228,000
325,000 57,000
175,000 14,000 -
$(7,949,000) $ (3,636,000) $ (2,603,000)
S (009 $ (005 $  (0.04)
89,183,000 77,187,000 64,654,000
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ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 .. 2003
Cash flows from operating activities: ‘
INEE LOSS - rreveereeereeeeseeeses st seeeesses e sesssessese e s s esesseesenneesreesssoreenseesesrenees §  (4,605000) $ (3,445,000) $ (2,375,000)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Equity-based COMPENSALION .......c.ccoviriiiecmiiirre s . 835,000 60,000
" Commpon stock issued for debenture interest ....ooovvveevvivieecvveriereereenninns, 18,000 ‘ 23,000 44,000
Write-off of fixed assets 20,000 )
Depreciation and amoOrtiZation .....c.cc.ovvveeeireeeriensclonersineseesceesnesenseasens 236,000 115,000 - 706,000
Marketable equity securities received as payment of license fee........... (289,000) )
Unrealized loss (gain) on marketable equity SECUTItIES ..c.o.vvvicvnrierevrnenenes 339,000 (121,000)
Realized loss on marketable equity securities................... et ' ‘ 26,000
Amortization of debt discount 14000 21,000 40,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ‘
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE, NEL.....ceiiiiiiie i e erieerrsesesessessseessesssesrresssnens (497,000) 427,000 (225,000)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets..........coceeveveiiunnan. e (30,000) : 8,000 (63,000)
OTHET ASSELS ..vueevireriirreriercerireeeereiestranieeeriensesaessbeeestereeesresesesineseresessens 51,000 (54,000) (17,000)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses................ e 79,000 203,000 ' (180,000)
Deferred FEVEIUE ..ooveveereiier s et ereree et re s sreeee e nee s 88,000 123,000 30,000
Net cash used in Operating aCtivities ........cc..oevverererrevereeernecernenenins (4,307,000) (2,108,000) (1,980,000)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of marketable equity SecUrities .........ccccerevermicrinnene 89,000
Purchases of marketable SECUTItIES c.oovvviirveeieceer e (75,000)
Purchases of the FLix SOftware Line .........ccccvuicviieeiieiiieronesvenvesneeeneerencnes B (1,229,000)
Purchases of property and eqQUIPMIENT ............evovererivreiserserienrensiessssenssonnss ) (116,000) (19,000) (39,000)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities..................... (1,420,000) 70,000 (39,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on capital lease obligations...........ccccoeereeinciinccinninnns (17,000) (11,000) (9,000)
Purchase of common StOCK WaITANES........cccvvrieiivriieorieeeeerescniresireeessrnneeenes (42,000)
Proceeds from (principal payments on) term-1oan, net.........coccvcennvcrvenicenes (62,000) (1,000) 63,000
Net proceeds from the sale of common stack ..., 1,314,000
Net proceeds from the issuance of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock 3,699,000
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants, net............ 4,365,000 830,000 3,105,000
Net cash provided by financing activities .......c.oovcvrverneererrsrmnens 4,286,000 4,517,000 4,431,000
Net change in cash and cash équivalems..........................V..‘.' ......... e S - (1,441,000) 2,479,000 2,412,000
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents............... e : (1,000) (24,000) (2,000)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ........ EOUSTRUU RV SN RN . 5:418,000 2,963,000 553,000
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year.................... e e $ - 3976000 $ 5418000 $ 2,963,000




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and non-cash transactions:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Cash‘paid during the year for:

Interest....cooovveeevenneennenn, FOUT TR SO UP RO PRSPPI $ 7,000 3 11,000 $ 12,000

TAKES ©veveeeeeersreresireserrises eeaesssesonesesesansse s eesmassss st s en st a s et $ 25,000 $ 7,000 $ 14,000

Non-cash transactions: ‘

Acquisitibn of fixed assets under capital leases ..................... ..................... $ 54,000
" Conversion of Series A, C-V and C-IV convertible preferred stock into

COMMON - SOCK ..ecveveiiis s e s $ 14,000 $ 23,000 $ 43,000

. Conversion of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock into common .

SEOCK ot etettees et et tee et et teae st ea bbbttt en b st $ 210,000

Conversion of debentures into COMMON SIOCK ...evvveervirreeiinisiveeiarecreeee e $ 100,000 $ 100,000 $ 200,000

Common stock issued for dividends and dividends accrued on Series D

CONVETtible PrEferred SIOCK w.......vvroevrvcrrerseeessesessesssnesisseesssenssees o $ 325000 °$ 30,000

Accrued dividend on Series D convertible preferred stock. ..o $ 27,000

Accretion of costs associated with the issuance of Series D convertible preferred

SEOCK vttt eveeeetiar et et ercates et sea et e et R bbb R e bbbt eheas $ 175,000 $ 14,000

Series D con_vertiblé preferred stock deemed dividends ........bvcicvcniicnnne, $ 2,844,000 $ 120,000 $ 228,000

Marketable equity securities received as consideration for account receivable

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

$ 150,000




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

{(a) Description of the Business

On2 Technologies, Inc. (“On2” or the “Company”) is a video compression technology firm. The Company
has developed its proprietary technology platform and video compression/decompression software (“codec”) to
deliver high quality video at the lowest possible data rates to closed area networks, such as set-top boxes, the
Internet and wireless devices. The Company offers a suite of products and professional services that encompass
its proprietary compression technology. The Company’s professional service offerings include customized
engineering and consulting services. In addition, the Company licenses its software products for use with video
delivery platforms.

On April 29, 2005 the Company acquired certain assets related to the Flix software product line of Wildform,
Inc. (“Wildform”), pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase and Software License Agreement between the
Company and Wildform.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that it will continue as a
going concern. The Company has incurred recurring operating losses and negative operating cash flows since its
inception. At December 31, 2005 the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $3,976,000 and working capital
of $4,179,000. The Company believes that existing funds are sufficient to fund its operations through 2006. The
Company plans to increase cash flows from operations principally from increases in revenue generated from its
compression technology services, products and licenses. The Company may also pursue additional financings.
However, there are no assurances that such increases in revenues will be attained or that additional financings will
be successfully consummated.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalenis

Cash equivalents consist of money market funds or other highly liquid debt investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

(d) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property and
equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
generally three to five years for equipment and software and five to seven years for furniture and fixtures.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the asset. Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value of the minimum
lease payments and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset.




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004. AND 2003

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNiFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and F inite-Lived Intangible Assets

Long-lived assets and identifiable intangibles with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability
of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired,
the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair
value of the assets. Assets to be dlsposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell.

(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk

The fair values of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying values based on the
short-term nature of these financial instruments. The fair value of the Series A secured convertible debentures is
approximately $2,366,000 and $1,969,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The fair value of the
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock is approximately $4,017,000 and $4,000,000 at December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The fair values were based on the quoted value of the underlying common stock of
the Company. :

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and establishes an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and
other information. Such losses have been within management’s expectations.

(g) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method: Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases
and for operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the
consolidated results of operations in the period that the tax change occurs. Valuation allowances are established,
when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

(h) Revenue Recognition

The Company pnmarﬂy generates revenue from the sale of its software licenses and its professional service
offerings. o :

The Company’s revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition” and other authoritative guidance. Under each arrangement, revenues are
recognized when a non-cancelable agreement has been signed and the customer acknowledges an unconditional
obligation to pay, the products or applications have been delivered, there are no uncertainties surrounding
customer acceptance, the fees are fixed and determinable, and collection is considered probable. Revenues
recognized from multiple-element software arrangements are allocated to each element of the arrangement based
on the fair values of the elements, such as product licenses, post-contract customer support, or training. The
determination of the fair value is based on the vendor specific objective evidence available to the Company. If
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(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Revenue Recognition (continued)

such evidence of the fair value of each element of the arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the
arrangement is deferred until such time that evidence of the fair value does exist or until all elements of the
arrangement are delivered. :

Software Licenses

The Company’s software licensing arrangements typically consist of two elements: a software license and
post-contract customer support (“PCS”). The Company recognizes license revenue based on the residual method
after all elements other than PCS have been delivered as prescribed by SOP 98-9. The Company recognizes PCS
revenues over the term of the maintenance contract or on a “per usage” basis, whichever is stated in the contract.
In accordance with SOP 97-2, vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of PCS is determined by
reference to the price the customer will have to pay for PCS when it is sold separately (i.e., the renewal rate).
Each license agreement offers additional PCS at a stated price. Revenue is recognized on a per copy basis for
licensed software when each copy of the licensed software purchased by the customer or reseller is delivered. The
Company does not allow returns, exchanges or price protection for sales to its customers or its resellers nor does it
allow its resellers to purchase software licenses under consignment arrangements.

Professional Services
Professional services consist of customized engineering and consulting services.

When customized engineering and consulting services are sold together with a software license, the
arrangement typically requires customization and integration of the software into a third party hardware platform.
In these arrangements, the Company requires the customer to pay a fixed fee for the engineering and consulting
services and a licensing fee in the form of a per-unit royalty. The Company accounts for its engineering and
consulting arrangements in accordance with SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction Type and
Certain Production Type Contracts”. When reasonably dependable estimates are available for the costs and
efforts necessary. to complete the engineering or consulting services and those services do not include contractual
milestones or other acceptance criteria, the Company accounts for the arrangements under the percentage of
completion contract method pursuant to SOP 81-1 based upon input measures such as hours. When such estimates
are not available, the completed contract method is utilized.

(i) Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily includes compensation costs for engineering and consulting personnel, depreciation

costs, licensing fees or royalties paid for third party software products and the amortization of purchased
technology.




~+ ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 3004 AND 2003

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j} Software Development Costs |

The Company recognizes costs associated with new software or product development and/or significant
enhancements to current software or products in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 86, “Software Development” Costs”. Under SFAS No. 86, these costs are expensed until
technological feasibility has been established. The Company essentially has completed its software development
concurrently with technolog1cal feasibility and, accordrngly, has not cap1tal1zed any software development costs

Software developed for internal use is recognizéd in accordance with SOP 98- 1 “Accounting for the Cost of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. SOP 98-1 requires all costs related to the
development of internal use software other than those-incurred during thé application development stage to be
expensed as incurred. It also provides guidance-on the capitalization of costs incurred during the app11cat1on
development stage for computer software developed or obtamed for mternal use.

(k) Stock-Based Compensatzon -

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” encourages the use of the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. ‘Alternatively, SFAS No. 123 allows entities to
continue to apply the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations and provide pro forma disclosures of net
income (loss) and earnings- (loss) per share, as if the fair value-based method of accounting had been applied to
employee awards. The Company:has elected to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion 25 and provide
the disclosures required by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatton —
Transition and Disclosure.”

The following table 1llustrates the effect on net loss attributable to common stockholders and loss attributable
to common stockholders per share if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards:

‘ Year Ended December 31,
..2005. . 2004 - 2003

Reported net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (7,949,000) $ (3,636,000) $ (2,603,000)
Stock-based employee compensation determined under

the fair value-based methed - . - (2,766,000) - . _(1,121,000). (688.000)

Pro forma net loss attributable to Vcorr-uinon shareholders ~ $( 10;7l5,000) $ g4;757aggg) $ (3,29 1,000)

Loss attributable to common stockholders per share

(basic and diluted): . - , . :
As reported o : ) $ {0.09) $ 005 $ (0.04)

Pro forma . IR $ 0.12) § 0.06) $. (0.05)

In December 2004, the Financial ‘Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R “Share-
Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which requires all sha_re-baised payments to employees, including grants -of
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(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k} Stock-Based Compensation (continued)

employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an operating expense, based on their
fair values on grant date. Pro forma disclosure will no longer be an alternative. The Company will recognize
share-based compensation costs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of awards. That cost
will be recognized as compensation expense over the service period, which would normally be the vesting period
of the options. The Company will adopt the provision of SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006, using the
modified prospective transition method which could have a significant impact on the Company’s results of
operations. Under the modified prospective method, non-cash compensation expense will be recognized for the
portion of outstanding stock option awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R for which service has not
been rendered, and for any future stock option grants. The impact of adopting SFAS 123R cannot be predicted at
this time because it will depend on the share-based payments granted in the future.

The pro forma amounts disclosed above may not be representative of future compensation charges because the
estimated fair value of stock options is amortized over the vesting period and additional options may be granted in
future years.

The fair value of each option grant on the date of grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes opt10n-pr1cmg
model reflecting the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 . 2004 2003
Volatility ( 120% 126% 138%
Expected life of options : . 5 years 5 years 5 years
Risk free interest rate 4.1% . 3.6% 3.5%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 were $0.59, $0.59 and $0.56, respectively.

(I} Advertising costs

The Company expenses advertising cost when incurred. Advertising expenses were $115,000, $40,000 and
$8,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(m) Net Loss Per Common Share

The Company computes net loss per common share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Computation of
Earnings Per Share”. In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the
incremental common shares issuable upon the conversion of the preferred stock and convertible debentures (using
the if-converted method) and shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants (using the Treasury
Stock method).  Diluted loss per share has not been presented separately since 26,891,000 potential common
shares at December 31, 2005, 33,047,000 potential common shares at December 31, 2004 and 24,540,000 at
December 31, 2003 are anti-dilutive for each of the periods presented.
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(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the. reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. .Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Assumptlons underlying revenue recognition represent sensitive estimates subject to
change. |

(o) Segment Reporting

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information”. The Company operates in one business segment, the sale of video compression software
and related services, from which it earns revenues from its customers. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision
Maker is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), who receives consolidated financial information for
purposes of evaluating the Company’s operational and financial performance.

Our customers typlcally represent digital communication and media companies, entertainment compa.mes
telecommunication companies and third party resellers. For the year ended December 31, 2005, two customers
accounted for 20% and 11% of the Company’s total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2004, one
customer accounted for 47% of the Company’s total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2003, three
customers accounted for 35%, 19% and 11% of the Company’s total revenue. As of December 31, 2005, four
customers accounted for 20%, 18%, 11% and 11% of total accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2004, two
customers accounted for 21% and 13% of total accounts receivable.

The components of the Company’s revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
summarlzed as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 - 2004 2003
License revenue............. i ...... e b $ 1,947,000 $ 2,571,000 $ 2,637,000
Engineering serviees and SUPPOTt.......ccovvvverrvrenn. e 155,000 414,000 - 633,000
ROYAIIES....covi ettt 106,000 43,000 - 32,000
Total ........ ettt e — st b ot sebearentaas $ 2,208,000 - $ 3,028,000 $ 3,302,000

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 foreign customers accounted for approximately 27%,
20% and 67%, respectively. These customers are primarily located in Asia.

The Company’s assets and operations have been and are currently based within in the United States, except
for two research and development employees located in the United Kingdom. There was no revenue generated
from the United Kingdom operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS
123(R)”). SFAS 123(R) addresses the accounting for transactions in which an enterprise exchanges its equity
instruments for employee services. ' It also addresses transactions in which an enterprise incurs liabilities that are
based on the fair value of the enterprise’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity
instruments in exchange for employee services. The cost of employee services received in exchange for equity
instruments, including employee stock options, is to be measured on the grant-date fair value of those
instruments. That cost will be recognized as compensation expense over the service period, which would
normally be the vesting period. SFAS 123(R) became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2006. The
impact of adopting SFAS 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend on the share based
payments granted in the future. ~

- In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” (“SFAS 154”). This Statement replaces APB Opinion No. 20,
Accounting Changes, and FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting’ Changes in Interim Financial
Statements, and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting
principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a voluntary
change in accounting principle unless it is impractical to” determine period specific changes. This statement is
effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005 and is not expected to have a significant 1mpact on
the Company s financial statements. '

(2) MARKETABLE SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2004 the Company received 2,224,000 shares of a customer’s common
stock as payment of license fees pursuant to the terms of an August 2004 license agreement and $289,000 of
revenue was recognized based on the market value of the stock. The Company also received 469,000 shares of
this customer’s common stock pursuant to the terms of a license agreement for a license fee of $150,000 that was
recognized in 2003. The Company’s former Chief Executive Officer (who is a former director and shareholder of
the Company) is a director of this customer. : During the year ended December 31, 2004 the Company sold
574,000 shares for proceeds of $89,000 and held 2,119,000 shares with a market value of $106,000 ($0.05 per
share) as of December 31, 2005. The market value of these securities was $0.04 per share as of March 10, 2006.
Additionally, at December 31, 2005 the Company held debt securities with a fair value of $75,000. The Company
classifies these as trading securities and pursuant to SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities”, unrealized gains and losses are included in the determination of net income (loss). Other
income for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes $339,000 of unrealized net loss on these securities, Other
income for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes $95,000 of net gain on these securities.
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(3) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

. December 31,
2005 2004

Furniture and fiXtures ........cocceivieervvniicreeeee e e ——— $ 92,000 $ 65,000
Computer EqUIPMENL .......ccovrveeeriirieireiesinie e T 2,437,000 2,367,000
Leasehold improvements............coceeverereerenvereinnenenns et 24,000 23,000
Licensed SOftWATE..........covvveiiiie ettt 4 | 607,000 588,000

R | 3,160,000 3,043,000
Less gccumulated depreciation and amortization....................... 3,029,000 2,956,000

TOUAL oo oot B $ 131,000 S 87,000

.As of December 31, 2005, property and equipment included assets under capital leases of $156,000 with
related accumulated depreciation of $136,000. As of December 31, 2004, property and equipment included assets
under capital leases of $156,000 with related accumulated depreciation of $118,000. Depreciation expense was
$73,000, $115,000 and $243,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(4) INTANGIBLE ASSETS:
Flix Acquisition » V‘ - , _ - o , v .

On April 29, 2005 the Company acquired certain assets related to the Flix software line of Wildform, pursuant
to the terms of the Asset Purchase and Software License Agreement between the Company and Wildform.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company acquired certain assets related to the Flix software and
received d perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free, sub-licensable license to use certain other intellectual property (the
“Licensed Flix IP”) related to the Flix software. The Company also received a perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free
license to use certain web sales software (“E-Commerce Software”). In addition, the Company granted Wildform
a perpetual license to use the purchased Flix assets and -updates of the Flix software in certain new software
products being developed by Wildform in exchange for a payment of a royalty to the Company by Wildform.

In consideration for the purchased Flix assets and the license of the Licensed Flix IP and E-Commerce
Software, the Company paid Wildform $1,215,000, $200,000 of which has been deposited in an escrow account
that will be maintained until the one-year anniversary of the Closing Date as security for Wildform’s obligations
under the Purchase Agreement and incurred $14,000 in associated costs.
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(4) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Flix Acquisition (continued)

The total acquisition cost of $1,229,000 was allocated as follows:

$ 800,000

Acquired SOfTWATE ........oereeviiieenriiiiien s
BIand GSSELS....coviveoiieiirieeeiisetiereeeseeercesaantareeseeseertaeeesssaraneeaenes 160,000
NON-COMPELE AZIEEMENL.......eovivreireirieieriicerieirereraieses e 25,000
GOOAWILL....coveiii ittt ettt eae e e enennes 244,000
TOLAL ..ottt ettt ae ettt enne e eraen $ 1,229,000

The assets recognized with respect to acquired software, brand assets and the non-compete agreement are
being amortized over their estimated lives of four years. Amortization expense related to these intangible assets
was $163,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The Company has also entered into an eighteen-month agreement for support services from Wildform with
respect to the Flix software. Pursuant to such agreement, the Company has paid $160,000 and has agreed to issue
280,000 shares of common stock on April 29, 2006. There are registration rights with the common stock which
contains liquidated damages if the Company fails to register such shares and maintain effectiveness of such
registration. The Company has determined that the fair value of the embedded derivative liability for the
liquidated damages is nominal based on the expected probability of paying such damages. The Company is
recognizing expense over the eighteen-month term of the agreement for the cash payment and common shares

1ssuable.

Had the Company acquired the Flix assets as of January 1, 2005 there would have been a nominal effect on
revenue and expenses, other than additional amortization of acquired intangible assets of approximately $83,000.
(5) ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2005 2004
Accrued COMPENSALION .....vevieeeriieriiecreereiireet et $ 243,000 | $ 41,000
Accrued professional fees .......c..coccovviviiiinciii, 80,000 80,000
Other accrued eXpenses.......ccceevenevienenes ettt et et 285,000 272,000

TOtal ... § 608,000

$ 393,000
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(6) TERM LOAN

During June 2004 the Company obtained unsecured financing in the amount of $185,000 to finance their
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. The financing arrangement was for nine months and ran through
March of 20035 and provided for interest at an annual rate of 4.95%.

(7) INCOME TAXES

The asset and liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. :

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards for United States purposes of
approximately $84,986,000, and approximately $1,839,000 for United Kingdom purposes, which expire at
various dates through 2025. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had a deferred tax asset of
approximately $35,779,000 and $33,917,000, respectively, principally representing the benefits of its net
operating loss carry forwards and certain expenses not currently deductible for tax purposes. Past and future stock
issuances may subject the Company to an annual limitation on the utilization of its net operating loss under
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. At December 31, 2005 and 2004 the principal timing difference
between tax and financial reporting was due to depreciation and amortization expense. A full valuation allowance,
which increased by $1,862,000, $1,737,000 (the deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2003 was $32,180,000)
and $739,000 (the deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2002 was $31,441,000) during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, has been recorded related to the deferred tax asset as a result of
management’s uncertainty as to the realization of such asset. Accordingly, no income tax benefit has been
recognized. The tax provisions of $32,000, $2,000 and $10,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, relate primarily to various state and local taxes.

(8) CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
Series A Secured Convertible Debentures

In September 2002 the Company issued $650,000 principal amount, 5.75%, four-year Series A Secured
Convertible Debentures due in 2006 to a group of existing investors and two former Board members who were
members of the Board at the time of issuance. The debentures are secured by all property interests in the
Company. The debentures are convertible into the Company’s $0.01 par value common stock (“Common Stock”)
at $0.112. In addition, the Company issued to the purchasers of the debentures, warrants to acquire the
Company’s Common Stock. The Company sold sixty-five units with a principal amount of $10,000 per unit and
each unit contained one warrant to purchase 20% warrant coverage shares of Common Stock at $0.112 per share. -
The debentures require interest to be paid each November and May, which is payable in a number of shares of
common stock that is based on the average closing price of the stock for the ten trading days prior to the payment

'
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(8) CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued)
Series A Secured Convertible Debentures (continued)

date. The initial common share equivalents for'the debentures and the warrants were 5,804,000 and 1,161,000,’
respectively.

The Company allocated the proceeds received to the principal amount of the debentures and the warrants
based upon the relative fair value method. The fair value of the warrants was determined using the Black Scholes
pricing model. The difference between the proceeds allocated to, and the fair value of the debentures, which
amounted to $88,000, was recorded as debt discount and additional paid-in capital. The discount is being
amortized over the life of the debentures, which resulted in an effective interest rate of approximately 9%.

An aggregate principal amount of $400,000, of the Series A Secured Convertible Debentures, was converted
into 3,571,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2005. During 2005, 804,000 warrants
were exercised and the Company received proceeds of $90,000. During 2004, 90,000 warrants were exercised.
The amortization of the discount was $14 000 and $21,000 for the years ended Deceniber 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Preferred Stock

The Company has 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized for issuance and, through December 31,
2005, -ten series of convertible preferred stock (collectively “Preferred Stock™) were issued. Pursuant to- its
Certificate of Incorporation, the Company may serially designate separate classes of preferred stock up to the
aggregate of its authorized limit. Each class of the Preferred Stock is.convertible into shares of the Company’s
Common Stock based on a conversion rate and has rights and preferences which are generally more senior to the
Company’s Common Stock and are more fully described in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
In 1999, the Company issued 2,000,000 preferred stock purchase units (the “Units™) for $7.50 per unit.

Each Unit consisted of one share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”), $0.01 par
value, and a warrant to purchase 1.114404 shares of Common Stock of the Company at an exercise price of $3.14
per share. Each share of Series A Preferred was non-voting and was convertible at the holder’s option, at any
time, into one share of Common Stock of the Company.

All of the Series A Preferred has been converted into shares of the Company’s Common Stock including the
conversion of 400,000 shares during 2004.

Series C, C-IV and C-V Convertible Preferred Stock

In 2000, the Company designated 4,286,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Series C Preferred
Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series C Preferred”) and completed a private placement of 1,644,000 shares of the
Series C Preferred with detachable warrants for an aggregate purchase price of $10,000,000, in connection with
an investment by The Travelers Indemnity Company (“Travelers”). The Company incurred transaction costs of
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(a) Préferred Stock (continued)
Series C, C-IV and C-V Convertible Preferred Stock (cdntinued)

$9,000 in connection with the transaction. This investment was part of an aggregate financing of $15,000,000.
The original conversion price was $6.082. The additional $5,000,000 was received and satisfied through the
issuance of the Company’s Series C-II and Series C-III Convertible Preferred Stock as described below. In the
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of
the Series C Preferred are entitled to receive a liquidation amount of $6.082 per share. The liquidation price per
share would be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution prior to any payments made on
any shares of the Company’s Common Stock or any other capital stock that ranks junior to the Preferred Stock.

In addition to the Series C Preferred, Travelers received detachable warrants which provide them the right to
purchase 206,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $8.69 per share and
206,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $10.86 per share (collectively
“Travelers’ Warrants”). :

Concurrently with its investment in June 2000, Travelers was granted pricing protection on its investment
regarding the subsequent investments in the Series C-II and Series C-III Preferred Stock. Accordingly, on
December 31, 2001, the Company canceled the Series C Preferred and issued in its place 1,849,000 shares of
Series C-IV Convertible Preferred Stock, (“Series C-IV Preferred”) par value $0.01 per share, with a conversion
price of $2.65 per share, and 4,100,000 shares- of Series C-V Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C-V
Preferred”), par value $0.01 per share, with a conversion price of $1.244 per share, and cancelled the Travelers
Warrants and in their place issued 462,000 warrants with an exercise price of $2.65 per share and
1,025,000 warrants with an exercise price of $1.14 per share. Travelers was not entitled to any further pricing
protection. '

Additionally, Travelers was provided with certain anti-dilution protection on its Series C-IV and C-V
Preferred. The anti-dilution provisions primarily adjust the conversion price of the Series C-IV and Series C-V
Preferred and the number and exercise price of the warrants. The anti-dilution provision for the Series C-1V and
Series C-V Preferred was triggered by certain subsequent debt and equity financings consummated by the
Company. Although the Series C-IV and C-V Preferred was not issued until December 31, 2001, the Company
recognized the additional benefit to be received by Travelers as if the Series C-IV and C-V Preferred had been
issued in June 2000. ‘

As of December 31, 2002, the conversion price of the Series C-IV Preferred was adjusted to $1.7549 per share,
the Company issued 236,000 additional warrants and the exercise price of the warrants was reduced to $1.7549
per share. As a result of the issuance of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock in October 2004, the conversion
price of the Series C-IV Preferred was further adjusted to $1.6412 per share.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2002, the conversion price of the Series C-V Preferred was adjusted to
$0.9047 per share, the Company issued 372,000 additional warrants and the exercise price of the warrants was
reduced to $0.8363 per share. As a result of the issuance of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock in October
2004, the conversion price of the Series C-V Preferred was further adjusted to $0.8839 per share
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(a) Preferred Stock (continued)
Series C-II Convertible Preferred Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company purchased 698,000 Warrants originally issued with
the Series C-IV Preferred and 1,397,000 Traveler’s Warrants originally issued with the Series C-V Preferred from
a Company’s shareholder for $42,000 in cash. Both the Series C-IV and C-V Traveler’s Warrants were due to
expire on June 6, 2003. The Company recorded the transaction by decreasing additional paid-in-capital.

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, 727,000 and 1,923,000 shares of Series C-V Preferred
were converted into 1,000,000 and 2,644,000 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Common Stock. During the
year ended December 31, 2005 the remaining 1,450,000 shares of Series C-V Preferred were converted into
2,040,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

In September 2000, the Company designated 925,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Series C-II
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series C-II Preferred”) and completed a private placement of 925,000 shares of
the Series C-II Preferred with detachable warrants for an aggregate purchase price of $2,450,000 with three
investors (the “Series C-II Investors”). The original conversion price of the Series C-II Preferred was $2.65 per
share.

_In addition to the Series C-II Preferred, the Series C-II Investors received detachable warrants which provided
them the right to purchase an aggregate of 396,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price
of $2.65 per share.

The holders of the Series C-1I Preferred were entitled to certain anti-dilution protection, which was triggered
by certain subsequent debt and equity financings consummated by the Company. As of December 31, 2002 the
conversion price of the Series C-II Preferred was adjusted to $1.7549 per share, the Company issued an additional
202,000 warrants and the exercise price of the warrants was reduced to $1.7549 per share. All of the Series C-II
Preferred has been converted into shares of the Company’s Common Stock. During the year ended December 31,
2003 the Company granted a cashless exercise right to a C-II Preferred Stock warrant holder and recorded a
deemed dividend of $85,000. During the year ended December 31, 2003, all of the C-TI Preferred Warrants were
exercised into 550,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock and the Company received proceeds of
$910,000.

Series C-1II Convertible Preferred Stock

In December 2000, the Company designated 2,050,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Series C-1II
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series C-IIl Preferred”) and completed a private placement of the
2,050,000 shares of the Series C-III Preferred with detachable warrants for an aggregate purchase price of
$2,550,000 with two investors (the “Series C-IIT Investors™). The original conversion price of the Series III
Preferred was $1.244 per share. :

In addition to the Series C-III Preferred, the Series C-III Investors received detachable warrants which
provided them the right to purchase an aggregate of 635,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an
exercise price of $1.14 per share.
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(a) Preferred Stock (continued)
Series C-VI Convertible Preferred Stock

The holders of the Series C-111 Preferred are entitled to certain anti-dilution protection, which was triggered by
certain subsequent debt and equity financings consummated by the Company. All of the Series C-HI Preferred
has been converted -into 2,614,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock based on an adjusted. conversion
price of $0.9756 per share. As of December 31, 2002, the Company issued an additional 238,000 warrants and the
exercise price of the warrants was reduced to $0.8363 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the
Company received proceeds of $730,000 in connection with the exercise of all of the C-III Preferred Warrants
into 873,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock.

In July 2001, the Company completed a Unit Purchase Agreement with Travelers whereby it sold an aggregate
of 3,571,000 units that consisted of one share of the Company’s Common Stock and a warrant to purchase
1.5 shares of the Company’s Common Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $2,000,000. In August 2001, the
Company entered into a new agreement with Travelers, rescinding the Unit Purchase Agreement and providing
that Travelers receive 3,571,000 shares of preferred stock, which were not convertible into the Company’s
Common Stock for a period of six months. Each share of Series C-VI Preferred Stock (“Series C-VI Preferred”)
was convertible on a one-for-one.basis into shares of the Company’s Common Stock. In addition, the Company
issued to Travelers a warrant to purchase 5,357,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, at $0.56, per share,
that could not be exercised for a period of six months.

During the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company agreed to extend certain anti-dilution rights to the
holders of its Series C-V1 Preferred, retroactive to the issuance of such shares. The conversion price of the Series
C-V1 Preferred was adjusted to $0.5241 from $0.56 per share as a result of the retroactive treatment. The
Company recorded deemed dividends of $143,000 durmg the year ended December 31, 2003 relating to this
adjustment. : .

During .the years ended December 31,, 2004 and 2003, 1,139,000 and 2,432,000 shares of Series C-VI
Preferred were converted into 1,210,000 and 2,606,000 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Common Stock.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company received proceeds of $753,000 from the exercise of
1,345,000 warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company received proceeds of $2, 247 000
from the exercise of the remaining. 4,012, 000 warrants. :

Series D Redeemable Convertlble Preferred Stock

In October 2004, the Company designated 4,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock as Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (“Series D Preferred”) and completed the sale of 4,000 shares of
Series D Preferred at $1,000 per share to two institutional investors, led by Midsummer Investment Ltd., for net
proceeds of $3,699,000. The Series D Convertible Preferred is convertible at any time into common stock at an
initial.conversion price of $0.70 per share of common stock.

The Series D Preferred is mandatorily redeemable by the Company over an 18-month period beginning in
October 2006 (42 months). Such redemptions can be made in cash or Common Stock, at the Company’s option.
If redemptions are made in Common Stock, the shares are valued at the average of the volume weighted average
trading price of the Common Stock for the 20 trading days immediately prior to the redemption date.
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(a) Preferred Stock (continued)
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (continued)

The Investors also received one-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2,994,000 shares of common stock
at an-exercise price of $0.65 per share and five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2,994,000 shares of
Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.76 per share. The Series D Preferred and warrants are subject to certain
anti-dilution protection for issuances of securities below the conversion price. Holders of Series D Preferred are
entitled to receive an 8% annual cumulative dividend, payable quarterly in cash or shares of Common Stock at the
Company’s option, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. :

The Series D Preferred includes a liquidation preference. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of shares of Series D Preferred are
entitled to receive an amount equal to $1,000 per share. The liquidation price per share would be paid out of the
assets of the Company available for distribution prior to any payments made on any shares of the Company’s
junior securities. The registration right agreement provides for liquidated damages of 2% of the aggregate
purchase price for the first month and 1% for each subsequent month if the Company failed to register the related
common shares and maintain effectiveness of such registration. The aggregate fair value of the Series D Preferred
was $4,000,000, based upon the redemption value of $0.70 which exceeded the market value of the underlying
Common Stock on the closing date. Additionally, the fair value of the warrants issued, as calculated using the
Black Scholes pricing model, was $2,354,000. In accordance with EITF 00-27, the Company allocated the net
proceeds between the Series D Preferred Stock and the warrants based on the relative fair value method as
described in APB No. 14. The Company allocated $2,518,000 to the Series D Preferred and $1,482,000 to the
warrants. The difference between the proceeds allocated to, and the fair value of the Series D Preferred, which
amounted to $1,482,000 represents a beneficial conversion feature. The aggregate of the relative fair value of the
Warrants and the beneficial conversion feature represents a convertible Preferred Stock deemed dividend. As of
December 31, 2004 the redemption value exceeded the market value of the common shares issuable upon
conversion. Although the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock has stated redemption dates, the Company may,
at its option, settle such redemptions by issuing common stock. Accordingly, $2,964,000 of deemed dividends
and accretion of $189,000 of financing costs, (excluding $112,000 allocated to the warrants) were being
recognized over the term of the Series D Preferred, inciuding $120,000 and $14,000, respectively, in 2004.
However as of September 30, 2005, the fair market value of the Company’s common stock exceeded the
conversion price and as a result, the remaining unamortized balance was recognized as a deemed dividend.
Additionally, the unamortized balance of financing costs has been recognized as accretion during the year ended
December 31, 2005. The aggregate convertible preferred stock deemed dividend and accretion of costs for the
year ended December 31, 2005 were $2,844,000 and $175,000, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, 210 shares of Series D Preferred were converted into 300,000
shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

During 2005, the Company recorded dividends of $325,000 on the Series D Preferred of which all were paid,
by issuing 538,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock and $27,000 was accrued. During 2004, the
Company recorded dividends of $57,000 on the Series D Preferred of which $30,000 were paid, by issuing 60,000
shares of the Company’s Common Stock and $27,000 was accrued.
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(a) Preferred Stock (continued)
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2005, Midsummer Investment Ltd. and Islandia L.P. exercised all the
one-year Series D Warrants and the Company received proceeds from the exercise in the amount of $1,886,000
(net of $60,000 of expenses) and issued 2,994,000 shares of Common Stock. -

Since the redemption is payable in common stock at the Company’s option, the Series D Preferred was
originally included in shareholders’ equity. However, the number of common shares issuable upon redemption is
dependent upon a volume weighted average trade price of the Company’s common stock which is currently
indeterminable and may exceed the number autherized at such time. Since obtaining stockholder approval to
increase the authorized shares is not under the control of the Company, the Series D Preferred has been
retroactively reclassified as temporary equity (mezzanine) for all periods presented (Note 14).

The Company accounts for the registration rights agreement as a separate freestanding instrument and
accounts for the liquidated damages provision as a derivative liability subject to SFAS No. 133. The estimated
fair value of the derivative liability is based on estimates of the probability and costs of cash penalties expected to
be incurred and such estimates are revalued at each balance sheet date with changes in value recorded in other
income. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company has estimated the fair values of these derivative
liabilities to be nominal and accordingly no liability has been recorded. There were no changes to the estimated
fair value during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)

(a) Preferred Stock {(continued)

The following table summarizes the common stock issuable upon conversion of all outstanding Preferred
Stock and the exercise of related warrants at December 31, 2005:

 Shares of

. Common Stock
Conversion or Issuable upon
_ Exercise Price per Conversion/
Convertible Security Share - Exercise
Series C-IV Preferred Stock - $1.6412 2,986,000+
Series D Preferred Stock $0.7000 5,414,000
Series D Warrant $0.7600 2,994,000

(b) Warrants -

The Company has issued common stock purchase warrants to various consultants, strategic partners and
investors. The following table summarizes information about all common stock purchase warrants outstanding as
of December 31, 2005, including those issued in connection with Preferred Stock and Convertible Debentures. All
warrants were exercisable as of December 31, 2005.

Number of Weighted
Range of Warrants Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price Expiration Dates
$ 0.11 268,000 $ 0.11 2007
$ 043-$0.76 3,280,000 $ 0.75 2009
$ 143-51.68 1,650,000 $ 167 2006 - 2007
5,198,000 $ 1.01 2006 -2009

(c) Stock Options

Pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Amended and Restated Incentive and Nonqualified Stock Option Plan (the
“1999 Plan”), 5,500,000 shares of Common Stock are reserved for issuance. The 1999 Plan provides for the
issuance of incentive stock options, which are intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue
Code, non-qualified stock options and restricted stock grants. The granting of incentive stock options is subject to
the limitations as set forth in the 1999 Plan. Directors, officers, employees and consultants are eligible to receive
grants under the 1999 Plan. A committee selected by the Company’s Board of Directors has the authority to
approve option grants and set the terms of such grants, which include the option price and the vesting terms.
Options granted under the 1999 Plan expire after a ten-year period and are subject to acceleration upon the
occurrence of certain events.
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9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)
(¢) Stock Options (continued)

Pursuant to the Company’s 2000 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan (the *“2000 Plan”), 5,000,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock are reserved for issuance. The 2000 Plan authorizes the Board of Directors to issue
nonqualified stock options as provided in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, restricted stock and stock
appreciation rights. Only employees, including officers, of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive
grants under the 2000 Plan. A committee selected by the Company’s Board of Directors has the authority to
approve option grants and the terms, which include the option price and the vesting terms. Options granted under
the 2000 Plan expire after a ten-year period and are subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of certain events.

In May 2005, the Company's stockholders approved the On2 Technologies, Inc. 2005 Incentive Compensation
Plan (the “2005 Plan”). Pursuant to the Company’s 2005 Plan, 7,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock are reserved for issuance, as Performance- Grants, Restricted Stock, Goal-Based Stock options, or Stock
Appreciation rights. Options granted under the 2005 Plan may be incentive Stock Options or Non-statutory Stock
Options. Employees, including officers, of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive grants under
the 2005 Plan. The 2005 Plan also permits the award of only Non-statutory Stock Options and Restricted Stock to
directors on the On2 Board, if such directors are not employees of On2 and to individuals who are consultants or
advisors to On2. The 2005 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, of the Board for all present and
future employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Board will administer the 2005 Plan for outside
directors and consultants, based upon recommendations by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation
Committee has the authority to approve option grants and the terms, which include the option price and the
vesting terms, Options granted under the 2005 Plan expire after an eight-year period.
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ({continued)
(c) Stock Options (continued)

The following table summarizes the stock option activity under all plans:

Weighted
Options Average
Granted Exercise Price
Outstanding January 1, 2003...............ooeererererermerrenreen 6,283,000 $ 1.71
Granted.........coviviiiniii e 1,201,000 0.65
EXErCiSed.....ccevveerieeieiiciincrntreeeee e (2,580,000) 0.54
Canceled......cooeevieerieneineiiree e e (557,000) 6.63
Outstanding December 31, 2003..........c.ccooceeviieennnee. 4,347,000 1.52
Granted.......ccoovvvevveeiere e SRR 3,110,000 0.68
EXErcised.....coucoiivieeiiincrinvrineioesevesrneiensseseessnencnens (275,000) 0.24
Canceled.......c.oooveieeeinniii e (1,350,000) 1.30
Outstanding at December 31, 2004...............cccoeeee 5,832,000 1.18
Granted......co.eevieeennecnniinceeene e . 4,778,000 0.71
EXercised...c..ccvveeiveieiieesiiceieire st eneereesee e {116,000) 0.35
Canceled.......oooeveeiieiir e (195,000) 0.76
Outstanding at December 31, 2005.........ccovvervennnennn. . $0.98
Exercisable at December 31, 2004...........c.cccvovinnnenn, 3,501,000 $ 155
Exercisable at December 31, 2005........cccceerevrenrennnn. 8,264,000 $ 1.05
Options available for grant at December 31, 2005 2,066,000
F-28



ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued) -

(c) Stock Options (continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted ~Weighted Average Weighted

Average Remaining Average

Range of Exercise Number Exercise Contractual Life Number Exercise
Prices of Shares " Price (in years) of Shares Price
$ 0.14-% 046 1,859,000 $ 0.37 6.6 1,759,000 $ 037
$ 055-% 0.69 4,614,000 0.62 79 . 3,638,000 0.56
$ 0.70-% 0.88 2,895,000 0.79 74 1,937,000 0.79
$1.25-% 225 522,000 1.48 7.1 521,000 1.48
©$227-$ 388 193,000 3.44 4.6 193,000 3.44
$10.63-$11.81 - 156,000 11.58 4.1 156,000 11.58
$12.25 - $25.00 60,000 16.60 3.6 60,000 16.60
10,299,000 $ 0.98 7.3 8,264,000 $ 1.05

Equity based compensation of $835,000 and $60 000 were charged to operations for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The 2004 compensation represents restricted stock granted to
employees and directors during 2004 that vested in December 2004. The 2003 compensation represents warrants

to purchase shares of Common Stock granted to certam consultants.

In December 2004, the Company’s then Chief Executive Officer cancelled 1,300,000 of his stock options with
exercise pI‘lCCS ranging from $0.74 to $2.50 per share and the Company granted 1,440,000 stock options with an

exercise price of $0.57 per share to other employees.

10) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES |

(a) Operating Leases

The Company has entered into several non- -cancelable leases, primarily related to the rental of certain facilities.
Future minimum lease payments, by year and in the aggregate under material operating leases consisted of the

following at December 31 2005

Year ended December 31, , Amount
2006 ..o $ 183,000
2007 o et ettt da e : 106,000
2008 ..o rveer e et et r st aee et eaes et e b e es 106,000

Total minimum lease payments .................. e $ 395,000

Rent expense under operating leases was approximately $202,000, $170,000 and $127,000 for the years

ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectlvely
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(10) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) -

(b) Employment Agreements

The Company maintains employment agreements, expiring at various intervals, with certain executives of the
Company. The employment agreements provide for a minimum salary, incentive compensation and certain
benefits, among other items.

(c) Litigation

From time to time the Company has been named in claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(d) Beijing E-world

In June 2003, we announced that we had licensed our VP5 and VP6 codecs to Beijing E-World Technology
Co. Ltd. (E-World), a consortium of several Chinese consumer electronics manufacturers. Under the terms of two
license agreements with E-world, we granted E-World a license to use our codecs in E-World's Enhanced
Versatile Disk (EVD) technology as well as other video products. E-world is developing EVD as a next-
. generation videodisk technology that is hoped will become the industrial standard for China for the recording and
playback of video, audio and data. E-World did not pay certain minimum quarterly payments that we believed
were due under its license agreements with us, and we commenced an arbitration proceeding seeking damages for
E-World’s failure to perform. In a ruling 1ssued March 10, 2005, the arbitrator rejected our claims that E-World
had breached the agreements and also denied a request by E-World to declare that it had complied with its
obligations under the agreements. The arbitrator further noted that agreements remained in effect and that the
parties had a continuing obligation to work to jointly select and port On2’s software to two commercial DSPs for
use in the EVD players. Despite the arbitrator’s expectations regarding completion of the porting work, On2 and
E-world have not made significant progress on the porting. ,

(e) Other Matters

In July 2001, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement w1th RealNetworks, Inc
(“Real”) whereby Real purchased 1,786,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock for nmet proceeds of
$1,000,000 and entered into a Software Development and License Agreement with Real as its exclusive delivery
platform for streamed content over the internet. The Company agreed to develop software plug-ins in order to
incorporate the technologies of the Company and Real and to license its compression technology for use in Real's
media delivery products and services for a four-year term. In order for the Company to develop the plug-ins
described in the agreement, Real was to provide certain development software and fulfill certain other obligations.
The Company believes that Real failed to deliver such software and perform such other obligations. During 2002,
the Company notified Real that it had terminated the agreement. Real disputed the Company’s right to terminate
the agreement and further claimed that the Company was in breach of the agreement. The Company responded by
reiterating its position and has not had any subsequent contacts or discussions with Real. The Company believes
that it had the right to terminate the agreement based on the nonperformance of Real. However, because the
arrangement with Real was exclusive in certain respects, should it be determined that the termination was not
effective, the Company could be restricted from supporting other software platforms, including certain
components of the Company’s software platform which have generated and are expected to continue to generate

(e) Other Matters (continued)




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2005, 2004 AND 2003

. .
revenue under arrangements with customers. The accompanying financial statements do not include any provision

for the outcome of this matter, whrch could have a materral adverse effect on the Company's business and
financial condition.

(11) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company retained a law firm to perform
certain legal services on its behalf and incurred approximately $13,000, $38,000 and $56,000, respectively, for
such legal services. A member of the Company’s board of directors is a partner at the law firm.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company retained a consulting firm to
facilitate customer relationships in Asia and - mcurred approximately $34,000, $122,000 and $108,000,
respectively, for such services. A consultant at the consultrng firm became a director of the Company in August
2003.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s then Chief Executive Officer
served as a director for one of the Company’s customers. The Company recognized revenue of $289,000 and
$150,000 from this customer in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

12) SUBSEQUENTEVENTS' BRI R o

Subsequent to December 31 2005, 175 shares of Serles D Preferred were converted into 250 000 shares of
the Company s Common Stock. ' . ‘

Subsequent to December 31, 2005, the Company granted extensions of '1 600 000 warrants at an exercise
price of $1.68 that were due to expire on January 29, 2006. As part of the Agreement the expiration date was
changed to December 31, 2006 and a mandatory exercise provision was added as follows: If during the exercise
period, the volume weighted average price for each of 10 consecutive tradmg days equals or exceeds $1.93, the
holders shall within five trading days, convert all of these warrants. :

(13) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly financial data for fiscal 2005 and 200?1 is as follows:

Quarter Ended 2005
_ March31,  June30, SEP‘E’(';‘;” 30 December 31,
Revenue $ 353000 $ 346000 $ 507,000 $ 1,002,000
Gross profit (loss) - (16,000) (64,000) 37,000 332,000
Net loss (1,302,000) (1,141,000) (1,044,000) (1,118,000)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (1,585,000) (1,424,000) (3,742,000) (1,198,000)
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to ‘

common stockholders per share $ (0.02) $ (0.02) $ (0.04) $ (0.01)




ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

Quarter Ended 2004
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Revenue ' $ 594,000 $ 1,570,000 § 762,000 $ 102,000
Gross profit (loss) 252,000 1,235,000 363,000 (259,000)
Net income (loss) (723,000) 62,000 (917,000) (1,867,000)
Net income (loss) attributable to common .
stockholders (723,000) 62,000 (917,000) (2,058,000)
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to

common stockholders per share $ (0.01) $ 0.00 $ (0.01) $ (0.03)

(1) Restated to write off, as of September 30, 2005, the unamortized balance of deferred financing costs of
$111,000 related to the Series D Preferred. The net loss attributable to common stockholders and the per
share amount for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, as restated, are $6,751,000 and $0.08,
respectively. '

(14) RESTATEMENT

As described in Note 9(a), there would be an indeterminable number of shares issuable upon redemption of
the Series D convertible preferred stock if the Company were to pay such redemption in common stock. This
might require approval to increase the number of common shares authorized, which is deemed to be outside of the
Company’s control. Accordingly, the Company has retroactively reclassified the Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock from permanent equity to mezzanine for all periods presented in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. As a result, $189,000 of the financing costs have been allocated to the Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock based on the relative fair value and have been reclassified to deferred financing costs with a corresponding
increase to additional paid-in capital. The discount of $2,964,000 has been reflected as an increase to additional
paid-in capital and a discount to the Series D convertible preferred stock, which is presented net of the amortized
discount on the accompanying balance sheets. The amortization of the discount and the financing costs are
charged to net loss attributable to common stockholders, which increases the accumulated deficit. Additionally,
as described in Note (13), $111,000 of deferred financing costs have been written off as of September 30, 2005.

The unaudited 2005 interim condensed consolidated balance sheets, as restated, are as follows:

March 31, June 30, September 30,

Deferred financing costs $ 154,000 $ 132,000 $ -

Total assets . 9,099,000 7,951,000 6,802,000
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (mezzanine) 1,336,000 1,516,000 4,000,000
Total stockholders' equity 6,957,000 5,612,000 2,090,000

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . 9,099,000 7,951,000 6,802,000




Description

ON2 TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Year ended December 31, 2005 allowance for
doubtfui accounts

Year ended December 31, 2004 allowance for
doubtful accounts

Year ended December 31, 2003 allowance for
doubtful accounts

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at

Beginning Costs and Other End of

Of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

$ 140,000 $ - $ (127,000) $ 13,000

$ 15,000 $ 125,000 § - $ 140,000

$ 50,000 $ 15,000 5§ - $ 50,000) $ 15,000
F-33
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